# **MAST WAY ELEMENTARY**

**Oyster River Cooperative School District** 



# PARENT/STUDENT HANDBOOK 2014-2015

23 Mast Road Lee, NH 03861 (Phone) 603-658-3001 (Fax) 603-658-8612 www.orcsd.org/school/mw

THE OYSTER RIVER COOPERATIVE SCHOOL DISTRICT MISSION:
"WORKING TOGETHER TO ENGAGE EVERY LEARNER"
Equal Educational Opportunities
 - dan - and and -

Students and/or parents/guardians should address any questions or concerns to the

superintendent of schools

# **Table of Contents**

Table of Contents	Page 3
ORSD School Calendar 2014-2015	Page 4
Welcome Letter	Page 5
Mast Way Core Values	Page 6
Mast Way Staff Members	Page 7
Main Office Visiting School Hours Entrance Age Student Attendance	Page 8-9
School Bus Information & Procedures	Page 9-10
Field Studies/Lessons	Page 11
Delayed Openings, School Cancellations, and Emergencies	Page 11
Progress Reporting Schedule	Page 11
Student Records	Page 12
Special Education Services	Page 12
ESOL Services	Page 12
Textbooks and other School Property	Page 12
Guidelines for Student Behavior	Page 12-15
Legal Custody Issues	Page 15
Media Information	Page 15
Child Nutrition Information	Page 16
Health Services	Page 17
Mast Way PTO	Page 18
After School Program Enrichment Opportunities	Page 18
Student Accident Insurance	Page 18
ORCSD Policies referred to in this Handbook are attached at end of this D	ocument

# **Oyster River Cooperative School District**

### **SCHOOL CALENDAR**

### 2014-2015

# Approved by School Board: January 8, 2014

Deliberative Session: TBD\* Voting Day: TBD

	AUGUST/	*Subject to Change						_
	SEPTEMBER 2014			FEBR	UAR	Y 201	5	1
	M T W Th F		M	T	W	Th	F	1
	THE RELATIONS	8/25 & 8/26 Teacher Workshop Days					100	l
	TW TW △ 28 29	8/27 1st Day for Students Gr. 1-12 8/28 1st Day for Kindergarten	2	3	4	5	6	
(24)	X 2 3 4 5	9/1 Labor Day Observance	9	10	11	12	13	(15)
(24)	8 9 10 11 12	9/2 1st Day Preschool	16	17	18	19	20	
	15 16 17 18 19		X	X	X	X	X	1
	22 23 24 25 26	10/3 Teacher Workshop					-	1
	29 30	10/13 Columbus Day		3.54	DOTT	004 =	70,-	
		11/7 Teacher Workshop			RCH		4.	
	OCTOBER 2014	11/11 Veterans' Day (Observed)	M	T	W	Th	F	
	M T W Th F	11/26 - 11/28 Thanksgiving Recess	2	3	. 4	5	6	
	1 2 TW		9	10	11	12	TW	(21)
(21)	6 7 8 9 10	12/24-1/2 Holiday Recess	16	17	18	19	. 20	
()	X 14 15 16 17	1/19 Martin Luther King Day	23	24	25	26	27	
	20 21 22 23 24	1/26 Teacher Workshop	30	31			-1-3	
	27 28 29 30 *31					-	- 4	l
		2/24 President's Day (Observed)	II P. I	AD	RIL 2	015		ľ
	: NOVEMBER 2014	2/23 - 2/27 Winter Recess	3.0				77	
		3/13 Teacher Workshop	M	T	W	Th	F	(18)
	M T W Th F	4/27 – 5/1 Spring Recess	100		1	2	3	
(15)	3 4 5 6 TW		*6	7	. 8	9	10	
(/	10 X 12 13 14	5/15 Teacher Workshop	13	14	15	16	17	
	17 18 19 20 21	5/25 Memorial Day	20 X	21	22	23	24	
	24 25 X X X	TBD ORHS Graduation	A	X	X	X		
		6/22 With 5 Built In - Snow Days						l,
İ		- The state of the		37	4 T.F (60)	15		
	DECEMBER 2014		7213/1		AY 20			
	M T W Th F	. A First Day of School for Students	M	T	W	Th	F	
	1 2 3 4 5	li ::					X	
(17)	8 9 10 11 12	△ Last Day of School (unless more than 5 make-up days are required)	4	5	6	7	8	(18)
	15 16 17 18 19	mure-up ways are requirea)	11	12	13	14	TW	
	22 - 23 X X X	TW Teacher District Workshop Days	18	19	20	21	22	
	x x x	(no school for students)	X	26	27	28	29	
11		X School Closed – Holiday/Vacation						
	JANUARY 2015	j		П	NE 20	15		
	M T W Th F	* End of Quarter		T			D	(11)
(18)		Anticipated last day for students is 6/22. The	M		W	Th	F	
(10)	X X	calendar allows for five school cancellation	1	2		4	. 5	
	5 6 7 8 9 12 13 14 15 16	days. If less or more than five days are needed to	8 15	9	10	11	12	
	X 20 21 *22 23	cover cancellations, the schedule will be		16	17	18	19.	
	TW 27 28 29 30	adjusted accordingly.	Δ	23	24	25	26	
	2, 20 DJ 50	F						

2013-14 Adopted Calendar = 1,068 Instructional Hours 2014-15 Proposed Calendar = 1,068 Instructional Hours

# MAST WAY SCHOOL

### **Parent/Student Handbook**



2014-2015

Sincerely,

Dear Mast Way Students and Families:

Welcome to Mast Way School! We are pleased to be entering another wonderful year of learning. This school handbook is designed to serve as a guide for students and parents/ guardians of our elementary school. Within this document we have compiled information to help familiarize you and your family of the routines, services, procedures and policies used within our school community.

At Mast Way School, we welcome parents to partner with teachers in supporting the educational development of our elementary students. By keeping in contact with classroom teachers and joining us in school based activities, we strive to showcase the wonderful learning that takes place each day.

We feel it is important for all members of our Mast Way community to know and understand our school expectations. Therefore, we ask that you review and discuss the information in this handbook with your child. Once complete, please sign and return the form below indicating that you and your child understand the content. If you have any questions, please contact us at Mast Way.

Carrie Vaich
Principal

We have read and understand the content provided within the Mast Way, School Parent and Student Handbook.

Parent/Guardian Name

Parent/Guardian Signature

Student Name/Signature

Date

# THE OYSTER RIVER COOPERATIVE SCHOOL DISTRICT MISSION:

# "WORKING TOGETHER TO ENGAGE EVERY LEARNER"

### **MAST WAY CORE VALUES**

### **RESPECT**

Respect for self and others, with our commonalties and differences, will guide the actions and rules, the teaching and learning environments of the Mast Way community. We will respect the natural world. We will treat others as we would like to be treated.

### **INTEGRITY**

We will strive to act with integrity, to match our actions to our values. We will think for ourselves and take responsibility for our own actions. We will have the courage to do the right thing, even when others disagree.

### **LEARNING**

We will cultivate curiosity about life and enthusiasm for learning. We will develop the skills, knowledge, and strategies to become self-directed learners and to succeed in literacy, mathematics, science, social science, technology, and the arts.

### **PERSONAL BEST**

We will take responsibility for our own learning. We will be willing to take risks and explore our strengths and weaknesses. We will create an environment in which everyone is challenged to achieve his or her personal best.

### COMMUNITY

We believe our lives are richer when we are part of a community. That community can be as small as our family or school, as large as our country or world. Our community is strengthened when we cooperate, respect community standards, include everyone, resolve conflicts, and give of ourselves in a spirit of service.

# Mast Way Staff Members – Principal, Carrie Vaich - 659-3001

Staff can be contacted by first initial, last name at orcsd.org

Ex. cvaich@orcsd.org

Name	Position
Ameduri, Kathleen	Special Education Teacher
Baker, Cathy	Physical Education Teacher
Baker, Melisa	Special Education Teacher
Biniszkiewicz, Andrea	SPED Coordinator
Bowden-Gerard, Maria	4 <sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher
Burke, Whitney	1 <sup>st</sup> Grade Teacher
Buswell, Heather	4 <sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher
Byrne, Deb	Resident Substitute Teacher
Capron, Erin	Paraprofessional
Chase, Christy	Paraprofessional
Churchill, Judie	Occupational Therapist
Concannon, Heather	Paraprofessional
Desrochers, Kirsten	1 <sup>st</sup> Grade Teacher
Drew, Heather	3 <sup>rd</sup> Grade Teacher
Duval, Kelly	Paraprofessional
Ervin, Ellen	Math Coach
Favazza, Jessica	Cafeteria Manager
Felber, Pamela	Music Teacher
Fisk, Josh	Custodian
Fortin, Christina	Physical Therapist Asst.
George, Judy	3 <sup>rd</sup> Grade Teacher
Hallett, Pam	Paraprofessional
Handwork, Erin	1 <sup>st</sup> Grade Teacher
Hastings, Debra	Art Teacher
Jasinski, Barbara	Reading Specialist
Jones, Molly	2 <sup>nd</sup> Grade Teacher
Kendall-Piel, Colleen	Speech & Language Assistant
Kilmain, Nancy	Paraprofessional
Kolbjornsen, Debbie	Kindergarten Teacher - AM
Lutz, Pat	Special Education Teacher
Mahokin, Pamela	Paraprofessional
Maziarz, Sue	Paraprofessional
McCormick, David	3 <sup>rd</sup> /4 <sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher
Moore, Katherine	School Nurse

Name	Position
Morin, Dave	Head Custodian
Morley, Amy	Speech & Language Pathologist
Morrison, Maggie	Green Team/Sustainability
Moulton, Heather	2 <sup>nd</sup> Grade Teacher
Munger, Stella	Title 1 Tutor
Newman, Amy	Paraprofessional
Paquette, Barbara	3rd Grade Teacher
Parrotta, Chris	Physical Therapist
Parsons, Michelle	Kindergarten Teacher
Puffer, Trudi	Paraprofessional
Pulitzer, Adele	Library Media Specialist
Rines, Nancy	Administrative Assistant
Roche, Barbara	Cafeteria
Seaman, Cynthia	Administrative Assistant to Principal
Simcox-Ayres, Mary	Paraprofessional
Sperry, Felicia	Psychologist
Soderholm, Jeri	Paraprofessional
Sweet, Helaine	Speech & Language Pathologist
Tirrell, Brenda	Guidance Counselor
Tonkin, Kristine	Paraprofessional
Vaich, Carrie	Principal
Vasudevan, Geetha	ESOL Tutor
Webb, Mary Ellen	3 <sup>rd</sup> /4 <sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher
Valvo, Karen	Custodian
von Oeyen, Cynthia	Library Paraprofessional
Yerkes, Rebecca	2 <sup>nd</sup> Grade Teacher
Zwicker, Sue	Paraprofessional `
-	

### Main Office

If you have any questions throughout the school day, please contact our main office at 659-3001. We have two Administrative Assistants, Cynthia Seaman and Nancy Rines. During the school day, teachers are busy working with students and may not be available to parents. All staff members have email addresses and teachers will let parents know their preferred mode of communication at the beginning of the school day.

parents know their preferred mode of communication at the beginning of the school year. If you should have a need to pass along information to your child, please contact the main office and we will be glad to assist.

### **Visiting Mast Way During School Hours**



We are pleased to welcome parent volunteers into our school and appreciate your support. In order to maintain safety for all, our school doors are locked at all times. If you are coming to volunteer, please enter through the main doors only. You will find a small buzzer on the right side of the main doors, on the brick wall. Once you ring the buzzer, a member of our office staff will greet you and ask for your reason for visiting. When the door is unlocked, it is essential that all visitors must sign in at the office and wear a visitor's badge at all times. It is greatly appreciated that volunteers only travel to the class where they plan to assist and avoid wandering through the halls unescorted.

### **School Day Hours**

Morning Kindergarten 8:45 – 11:25 am

Grades 1 – 4 8:45am – 3:10 pm

Afternoon Kindergarten 12:30 – 3:10 pm

Our school day begins promptly at 8:45 AM. Students unload from school buses and proceed directly to their classrooms at this time. **We do not have adult supervision before this time in the building or on the playground.** Because of this, students should not arrive prior to 8:45 AM.

### **Entrance Age**

Any child who is a resident of Durham, Lee, or Madbury, and has attained the age of five years by **September 30**, may attend the Oyster River Cooperative School District kindergarten program.

### Student Attendance

Children should be in school every day except in cases of illness or emergency. Absences and tardiness can have an adverse effect on a child's progress in school. Students may be excused for illness, emergencies, or religious holidays. Unexcused absences may be considered truancy.

Student Attendance, cont.

We ask that parents call the school as soon as possible to report a child's absence. If calling before the beginning of the school day, parents may leave a message on the school's voice mail, 659-3001.

Students will be considered tardy if they arrive at school after 8:55 AM. Tardy students must be brought to the office by their parents to sign in and notify the Administrative Assistant of their arrival. They will then be given a late pass for admittance into their classroom. This allows the Office to correct their attendance if needed.

Please keep your child in school for a full day. Early dismissal from school should be requested only when absolutely necessary.

### **School Bus Information**



The **Transportation Director** for the Oyster River Cooperative School District is **Ms. Lisa Huppe**. She can be reached at **868-1610** for information pertaining to bus transportation. In order to provide safe and efficient bus transportation to and from school we ask that students be at the bus pickup point at least 5 minutes before the bus is due to arrive and should wait for the bus a safe distance from the road.

### Afternoon Bus Procedures/ Policies

### **General information**

In order to make a temporary change to your child's afternoon bus run, we ask that you:

- Complete the Bus Change/Pick-up form and send it into school on the day of the change – it is important to complete both the top (for the front office) and the bottom (your child's "ticket" to leave the school and to show to the bus driver)
- Call or email our front office at 659-3001 by 12 noon if you have a bus change that was unanticipated and you did not send in the form

In order to make a year-long change to your child's afternoon bus run, we ask that you fill out a permanent bus note which can be obtained through our main office.

### ORCSD K-4th Grade Bus Drop Off Policy

DROPPING OFF - When dropping off children in grades Kindergarten through 4th grade, bus drivers are to see a responsible party at the residence to receive the child. If the responsible party is not there, the bus driver must keep the child on the bus and notify the Transportation Office. The driver will bring the student back to the school and the Transportation Office will call the school to inform them of a student being returned. A call will be made to the home of the student to leave a message for the parents/guardians. The only exception to this policy will be if the parent or legal guardian has, in advance

### ORCSD K-4th Grade Bus Drop Off Policy, cont.

and in writing, instructed the Transportation Office to drop their student off without the presence of an adult to receive the child. In this case, the parent/ legal guardian must be specific as to the child's name, address of the drop off and effective dates of the written drop off instructions.

### Hosting 3 or more guests

If you would like to host 3 or more children on your child's bus, we ask that you:

- Contact transportation director <u>at least 2 school days prior</u> to your event to ensure that your bus has enough space to accommodate your guests
  - Before your event, transportation will investigate the request and contact both the front office and you at the phone # you provide to them with approval for multiple guests
- Send in a written list of invited guests to the front office <u>at least 2 school days</u>
   <u>prior</u> to your event also include date of event, your address, and your phone
- Each "sending" parent is required to call or send in a bus note to the front office as outlined in the preceding section

### Parent Pick-up

In the event that parents need to pick up students at the end of school, all vehicles must be parked in the side parking lot and parents need to come into the school to pick up students. To assist us with this very busy time of the day, we ask that you:

- Complete the Bus Change/Pick-up form and send it into school on the day of the pick-up – it is important to complete both the top (for the front office) and the bottom (your child's "ticket" to leave the school with the designated adult)
- Call or email our front office at 659-3001 by 12 noon if your need to pick-up your child was unanticipated and you did not send in a completed form
- We will observe a <u>pick-up "black-out" period between the times of 2:45 3:10 pm</u>. If you arrive during this timeframe, give your child's name to the front office, and we will announce all Pick-up children for dismissal at 3:10pm
- We ask that parents DO NOT walk to the classroom to pick-up students our front office will dismiss all children
- Please greet the staff member managing the Pick-Up Station in the front lobby and sign out your student on the sign out sheet by the Office door before exiting with your student(s)

### **Request**

We respectfully request that you allow your children to stay in school until the end of their school day. We have experienced a growing trend of early dismissals within the last 10-15 minutes of school. It is important to us that children have the opportunity to collaborate with their peers to process and reflect upon their full day of learning and to review any homework for the upcoming evening.

### Field Studies/Lessons

As part of the educational program of the school, occasional field trips to various points of interest are taken to enrich the curriculum. Such trips are carefully planned and supervised by teachers with the assistance of parents.

A permission slip will be sent home in advance describing the purpose, destination and cost of the trip to be completed, signed, and returned to school before the day of the trip. All bus rules as stated above apply to field trips as well.

### Delayed Openings, School Cancellations, Emergencies

In the event of school closures, delayed openings, early dismissals, or emergencies, families will be contacted via phone and email through the School Messenger system. Please be certain that we have your correct contact information and contact preferences. This year, ORCSD will implement a parent portal to School Messenger that will allow you to manage your contact preferences.

You may also access school and district message alerts from WMUR, <u>www.wmur.com</u> and/or <u>www.orcsd.org</u>. Also the listings below:

Call Letters	Frequency
WOKQ	FM 97.5
WTSN	AM 1270
WHEB	FM 103.3
WMUR	TV 9

In the **e**vent an off-site emergency dismissal is needed, our school will utilize the Lee Congregational Church under the direction of the Lee Police Department.

In the case of an emergency, <u>parents are advised NOT to call the school</u> in order to leave our phone lines open to communicate with emergency personnel.

### **Progress Reporting Schedule**

Teachers at Mast Way Elementary School report individual student progress throughout the school year in a variety of formal and informal formats. Formal communications with parents during the year include:

- Initial assessment conference held by mid-November. Notes from the conference are recorded, filed, and a copy is provided for parents
- Mid-year formal written progress report and optional conference completed and provided for parents to review
- Third quarter update notes available to parents in April
- Final written progress report provided for parent review on the last day of school in June
- Other conferences arranged as parents and/or teachers request

### Student Records & Records Request

The Oyster River Cooperative School District complies with all federal and state laws concerning confidentiality of student records (see Board Policy JO).

It is the practice of the Oyster River Cooperative School District to obtain parental authorization for the release and exchange of information so that parents and/or guardians of our students are aware of the sharing of information regarding their child. However, as per FERPA (34 CFR 99.31), schools are allowed to disclose educational records of a student without written consent of the parents, guardian, or student when the disclosure is to other schools and school officials within the educational institution or legal educational agency who have been determined by the agency or institution to have legitimate educational interest.

### **Special Education Services**

Mast Way provides special education services to students who qualify through the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEIA). If you have concerns about your child's learning, please contact your child's teacher or the Special Education Coordinator at 659-3001.

### **English for Speakers of Other Languages - ESOL**

English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) services are provided by the district to help students with multi-language backgrounds learn and/or master all four aspects of the English language - listening, speaking, reading and writing - as well as to give support in the content areas - writing, reading, math, science, etc. The ESOL teacher works in collaboration with the classroom teacher and other specialists as is necessary to ensure the academic success of the ESOL student and their transition into the mainstream classroom.

### Textbooks and other School Property

Students are responsible for proper care and the return of books and other school property issued to them for their use. Students are liable for the repair/ replacement cost of items issued to them that are damaged or lost (see Board Policy JFCB).

### **Guidelines for Student Behavior**

The following considerations are guidelines for students' behavior at school.

### **Safety Considerations**

- Students must listen to and follow the directions of adults in the variety of roles (paraprofessionals, teachers, unified arts, etc.) who supervise them and are responsible for maintaining a safe environment
- Students should walk in the corridors and on the outside walkways around the school building

### Safety Considerations, cont.

- When tardy, students should go to the office before reporting to their classroom to pick up their tardy slip – this allows us to correct the attendance if necessary
- Students must ride on their assigned bus unless they bring a note from their parent or guardian requesting an exception

### Playground behavior

- 1. Please use respectful language and behavior at all times.
- 2. Children <u>are</u> allowed to play with Nerf balls. This includes Nerf baseballs, footballs, softballs and frisbees.
- 3. Students must not leave the playground for any reason without getting permission from an adult on duty.
- 4. The shed, which holds recess equipment, will be open each day. Each class is responsible for returning playground equipment to the shed after each recess.
- 5. Feet first at all times on the slides. Climbing, running up slides, pushing and shoving are not allowed. Standing on or jumping off the top of equipment or swings is not allowed.
- 6. Building with small sticks and rocks is allowed in the wooded fairy house area only. Please be respectful of other children's creations.
- 7. Tag may be played, but not on the playground equipment. Students may not climb on trees or the soccer goals.
- 8. Be respectful of our learning community, and play away from the building.
- 9. Practice good sportsmanship.
- 10. During winter months, wear appropriate warm clothing, and do not throw snowballs.

### **Smoking and Tobacco Use**

In accordance with NH State Law and Board Policy, smoking is not allowed in any school building or on school property.

### **Drugs and Alcohol**

The Board has adopted a comprehensive policy prohibiting anyone from consuming, possessing, furnishing, selling, receiving, buying, manufacturing or being under the influence of drugs, alcohol, and other prohibited substances (see Board Policy JICH). Violations of this policy will result in referral to law enforcement authorities.

### Weapons, Threats and Violence

The Board believes that students and staff are entitled to learn and work in a school environment free of weapons, violence, threats (including bomb threats), and other disruptive and illegal behavior. Students are expected to conduct themselves with respect for others and in accordance with Board policies, school rules, reasonable unwritten behavior expectations and applicable state and federal laws. Students who engage in prohibited conduct are subject to discipline up to and including expulsion from school. The District will also report violations to law enforcement authorities in accordance with applicable state laws (see Board Policy JFCJ).

### Harassment/Sexual Harassment

Harassment of students because of sex, race, creed, color, national origin, sexual orientation, or physical or mental disability is prohibited and may constitute illegal discrimination under state and federal laws. Any student who believes he/she may have been harassed is encouraged to discuss the matter with the building principal and may file a complaint which will be fully investigated. Students who engage in harassment or retaliation for reports of harassment are subject to disciplinary action up to and including expulsion (see Board Policies ACAA and ACAA-R).

### Bullying

The Board has adopted a Pupil Safety and Violence Prevention policy JBC which prohibits bullying (defined as insults, taunts, or challenges whether verbal or physical in nature, which are likely to intimidate a violent or disorderly response from the student being treated in this manner). Any student who believes he/she has been a victim of bullying should report it to the building principal for a full investigation. Students who engage in bullying behavior are subject to disciplinary action up to and including expulsion. All staff will work with students to eliminate such incidents.

### **Student Dress**

Students are expected to adhere to standards of cleanliness and dress that are compatible with a safe and respectful school learning environment. School administrators have the authority to impose restrictions when, in their judgment, a student's dress disrupts the educational process or poses a threat to health or safety.

Parents are advised to consult a local weather report when providing clothing for children to wear to school, since we try to give the students an opportunity to play out of doors whenever possible. In the winter, gloves and hats are important, and it is helpful if outer clothing is labeled so it can be returned to the appropriate owner if lost.

The 'Lost and Found' container is located outside of the cafeteria. Unclaimed items are donated to charity after one month. In addition, we have a lost and found area in the office for special or valuable items like small toys or jewelry.

### Student Computer and Internet Use

The Board has adopted a comprehensive policy and rules concerning the use of school computers and the Internet (see Board Policy IJNDB). Students are required to

### Student Computer and Internet Use, cont.

follow the policy and school rules at all times and have no expectation of privacy in their use of school computers. Teachers will review the "Acceptable Use Policy" with all students so that they understand the terms of it in age appropriate language. Students who violate the policy and rules are liable to disciplinary action and suspension of computer privileges.

### Response to Inappropriate Behavior

In response to inappropriate behavior staff members will determine the severity of the offense and will determine an appropriate consequence. In the vast majority of cases this will mean loss of a privilege, an apology to the person offended if appropriate, a logical consequence or possibly a "time out". Staff members will always try to use the situation as a learning opportunity for the student and will guide the student through a process of determining a different choice that could be made in future situations. If a teacher or staff member sees a pattern of inappropriate behavior then the principal will become involved and parents will be contacted for help and support.

The intervention and disciplinary procedures in this handbook are intended as guidelines only. The administration reserves the discretion to impose consequences up to and including a recommendation for expulsion for violations of Board policies and school rules. In determining the level of discipline, the administration may consider any relevant facts and circumstances, including but not limited to the nature of the violation, the student's grade level, the student's behavior accompanying the violation, the student's willingness to cooperate with the investigation, and the student's prior disciplinary record (see Board Policies JG, JGB, and JGD).

### **Legal Custody Issues**

On occasion, parents request that the school not let a child be released to a particular person for various reasons. Given the serious nature of this situation, we urge parents to provide the school office with a copy of any court order/legal documentation specifying the limitations of child custody, so that we can meet our responsibilities under the law while protecting the individual child in our care. Unless we have legal documentation indicating specific rights and limitations, school personnel may have no recourse but to release the child to either parent or guardian.

### **Media Information**

As part of its yearly curriculum, the Oyster River Cooperative School District conducts activities which attract the attention of local print and broadcast media. Oyster River Schools may also feature students, their photographs, voices, or work for promotional and educational reasons, such as in publications, posters, brochures and newsletters; on the District web site, radio station or cable TV channel; or at community fairs or special District events. The District understands there may well be circumstances in the lives of some children and/or families which preclude having a child's picture, image, or name from being published or broadcasted. A Media Permission Form is filled out when your student enters Mast Way. If you need to change your option at any time, you can go on-line or ask for a new form at the front office.

### **Child Nutrition Department**

### From the Cafeteria

As a food service provider in a child nutrition program, the Mast Way School Nutrition Program is always striving to provide healthy foods in a pleasant atmosphere. In order for students to start the day out right, and be ready to learn, we offer a healthy breakfast daily. Lunch consists of a variety of entrees, with four choices daily. We try to introduce and encourage students to eat nutritious new foods they may not have



tried, including plenty of fresh fruits and vegetables on our salad bar. Local foods are purchased whenever available. If food allergies are a problem adjustments can be made with a doctor's note. Parents, grandparents, aunts, uncles, and friends are always welcome to join us for lunch with the students. Please contact Jessica Favazza, Cafeteria Manager, with any questions.

Monthly menus are posted online, and parents are encouraged to review them with their child. Prepayments are accepted online or can be sent to school with your child in an envelope. Indicate the **child's name** and **classroom teacher** on the envelope. Do not send loose cash, to assure that your child's account will be credited properly. Children may give the envelopes to cafeteria staff on the way to their classroom. A point of sale system is used to keep track of accounts. Balances and purchase history can be viewed, and payments can be made online at www.sendmoneytoschool.com.

Applications for free and reduced breakfast/lunch should be submitted online at <a href="https://www.lunchapp.com">www.lunchapp.com</a>. Simply choose **NH** and **Oyster River** then continue as directed on the website. Applications from last year will expire in October of 2014. Therefore new applications must be filed every school year. Applications may be submitted any time during the school year if circumstances change.

• If you do not have access to the internet, a paper application can be obtained at the school office or from the **Child Nutrition Director**, **Doris Demers**, who can be reached at **868-5100**, Extension **2012**.

### **Lunch Price List**

Hot/cold lunch can be purchased @ \$2.50/day (includes an 8 oz. container of milk). Students may bring bag lunches from home and milk can be purchased @ \$.45/day. Snack milk can be purchased @ \$.45/day in Grades 1-4 or @ \$.25/day in Kindergarten. Breakfast is available at \$1.25/day. Juice is \$.45. Reduced breakfast is \$.30 and reduced lunch is \$.40.

**Lunch Schedule** 

Grade 1 Classes Recess: 11:25 – 11:50 Lunch: 11:50 – 12:15

Grade 2 Classes Recess: 11:50 – 12:15 Lunch: 12:15 – 12:40

Grade 3 Classes Recess: 12:15 – 12:40 Lunch: 12:40 – 1:05

Grade 4 Classes Recess: 12:40 – 1:05 Lunch: 1:05 – 1:30

### **Health Services**



Our school nurse, **Katherine Moore**, is in the building for your child's health related needs. Screenings of height, weight, vision and hearing are conducted in accordance with the State of New Hampshire, Department of Education, and School Health Services. The nurse will also attend to injuries and illnesses that occur at school. The nurse keeps health records and emergency information.

- To start school, each student must have completed immunizations and a recent physical exam from the United States on file. A form for religious exemption from immunization may be notarized and filed with the nurse. Medical exemptions require the signature of the child's physician.
- 2. All students must have a thoroughly completed yearly emergency form returned to school within the first week of school or has been done as part of your on-line registration packet.
- 3. An adult must transport any medication that is to be taken at school. Medication can only be administered by the nurse if it is in the original container or its labeled prescription bottle, and accompanied by written permission from a parent or guardian. Children may not transport or self-administer any medication on school grounds.
- 4. Children with any symptoms of communicable illness such as fever, vomiting diarrhea, purulent discharge from eyes, etc. must be symptom free for 24 hours before returning to school. Please inform the school nurse of any communicable illness.



5. If head lice are detected at school, the child will be referred to parents for treatment. Head lice detected at home should be treated at home and reported to the school nurse. Data does not support school exclusion for nits post-treatment, yet continued diligence at home is necessary. Many times, treated nits hatch and cause re-infestation. Mass screenings are not recommended, but close contacts should be monitored (NH Department of Health and Human Services).

### ORCSD AND MAST WAY WELLNESS POLICY

Oyster River Cooperative School District is committed to

the health and safety of all students emotionally and physically. The state and federal governments have initiated mandates on policies related to physical activity and nutrition in school. Our district has always been concerned with these areas, and these mandates and new district wellness policy as related to physical activity and nutrition, solidify our beliefs and efforts toward supporting the wellness of our students.

Mast Way is adding our school policy about personal celebrations such as birthdays: Mast Way takes diligent efforts to recognize individual students for their merits, accomplishments, and special events. The principal will acknowledge each child's birthday. However, we cannot guarantee a special, home based celebration for every student's birthday and we want an equal experience for all our children. Therefore, we will not be accepting outside prizes, gifts, or food to celebrate in school.

Curriculum based celebrations will continue to occur under the direction of the classroom teachers, keeping in mind special dietary situations that may need to be considered. No other group or community based foods will be brought into the school. These policies have been vetted and agreed upon by the Mast Way staff. Thank you all for your cooperation with this change.

### Mast Way PTO

The **Parent Teacher Organization** welcomes all members of the Mast Way community to join our organization. We meet monthly over coffee and refreshments to discuss and plan school-wide events that provide enriching experiences for our children. All parents and other interested parties are welcome to attend our monthly meetings. The PTO works collaboratively with the Mast Way Principal and members of the teaching staff to help ensure that we are all working together to support our students.

We understand the value of parents' involvement in their children's education. And there are many ways to support learning at Mast Way. You can volunteer in a classroom, you can help plan enrichment activities, you can serve as a liaison with other schools in our district, or you can lend an hour of your time to a special event.

Please consider getting involved with the Mast Way PTO. Together we can make our school the best that it can be!

### PTO Officers 2014-2015

Co-Chairperson - TBD
Co-Chairperson - TBD
Treasurer - Lori Trauntvein @ <u>loritrauntvein@hotmail.com</u>
Co-Secretary - TBD
Co-Secretary - Rebecca Throop @ <u>rthroop@hotmail.com</u>

### **After-School Programs**

### Live & Learn

Mast Way is pleased to offer an after school program, Live & Learn @ Mast Way, operated by Live & Learn Early Learning Center in Lee. The Oyster River School District rents the facilities to Live & Learn for the benefit of any child attending Mast Way whose parent wishes to take advantage of this service. Information about this program is available from directors, Ms. Johanna Booth-Miner or Sarah Miner, MEd, by calling 659-5047 during the day, visiting <a href="www.live-learn.org">www.live-learn.org</a>, or contacting the on-site supervisors at the school between 3:00PM and 6:00PM at 231-5099.

### **Enrichment Opportunities**

An after-school enrichment program for students is currently under development. Families will receive information during the fall regarding available enrichment opportunities.

### Student Accident Insurance

Student accident Insurance plans are available, contact the office for information.



Moharimet School
11 Lee Road, Madbury, New Hampshire 03823 • 603-742-2900

Dear Families,

Welcome to Moharimet! Whether you are new to our school community or have been a Moharimet family for years, we hope Moharimet will be all you have envisioned.

Moharimet School opened in 1989. The newly designated staff, in a meeting held long before the school opened, decided on the beginnings of a philosophy that has carried this school, the children who attend, and the adults who serve and are served (parents) through two decades of improvement and dedication to children and their education.

"Always behave in ways that show respect for you, others, and the environment.

Always behave in ways that will hurt no one physically or emotionally."

This handbook is one attempt to expand on this philosophy statement. We believe that mutual respect among adults results in dedication and respect for the children we serve. Since Moharimet School opened, we have lived the philosophy and will continue to do so. Parents are welcomed as partners and listened to with an open mind even when we do not agree.

Our Parent Teacher Organization is indeed a *Parent-Teacher* Organization. We want to partner with you in the wonderful adventure of bringing children from early childhood to the verge of adolescence. Our greatest challenge and hope is to support your family as you love, enjoy, cry, and yes, sometimes struggle through these formative years. Again, welcome to the Moharimet Community.

Sincerely,

Dennis J. Harrington

Principal

	TABLE OF CONTENTS		
A	OHARIMET CORE VALUES:  Note to Students and Parents Equal Educational Opportunities District Mission Statement	Page 3 - 4	
	Moharimet Philosophy		
G	ENERAL INFORMATION:	Page 4 - 8	
>	School Hours	1 490 -1 0	
A	Attendance Policy / Absence Reporting Extended Absences		
1			
>			
A			
- 1	Visitors to School		
1	S C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C		
-			
A			
>	School Notices		
7	• .		
AA	Change Of Information Legal Custody Issues		
	Media Information		
6/	CHOOL BUS INFORMATION & PROCEDURES:	Do 0 0	
	Bus Conduct	Page 8 - 9	
	Bus Stops		
	K - 4 Bus Drop Off Policy		
-	On The Bus		
AC	CADEMIC INFORMATION:	Page 9 - 12	
	Homework Parent Conferences / Communication		
1	Contacting Teachers		
	Progress Reports		
1.	Assessments		
	Library Media Center Multiple Copy Collection		
	Field Trips		
C	JIDANCE & INTERVENTION SERVICES	Page 12	
160	DIDANCE & INTERVENTION SERVICES	raye 12	
	ALTH & WELLNESS SERVICES:	Page 13 - 14	
	School Health Services		
	Illnesses / Injuries At School Medications		
	CHOOL NUTRITION INFORMATION:  Food Services	Page 14 - 15	
	Cafeteria Conduct		
	Snacks / Parties		
FN	CORE CLASSES:	Page 15 - 16	
1	Physical Education	. 450 10 - 10	
>	Art		
	Music Program		

# GENERAL INFORMATION

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Page 16

Page 16 - 20

### SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES:

English For Speakers Of Other Languages

### **SCHOOL POLICIES:**

- Cheating & Plagiarism
- Student Records
- Textbooks & School Property
- Student Conduct / Discipline Philosophy
- Moharimet Peace Policy
- Moharimet Discipline Continuum
- General School Conduct Rules And Expectations
- Pledge Of Allegiance
- Smoking And Tobacco Use
- Drugs And Alcohol
- Weapons, Threats And Violence
- > Harassment/Sexual Harassment
- Bullying
- Student Dress
- Lost & Found
- Student Use Of Electronic Devices
- Student Computer And Internet Use
- School Storage Facilities

### NOTE TO STUDENTS AND PARENTS

This handbook is but one attempt to promote communication among the Moharimet community in order to create an atmosphere of support and well being. Students and their parents/guardians are responsible for reading and following the rules in this handbook. This handbook has been developed within the framework of the policies of the Oyster River School Board. In case of a conflict between a board policy and the rules in this handbook, the policy will prevail. The school reserves the unlimited right to make changes to the handbook at any time without prior notice. The handbook is provided solely for the convenience of staff, students and parents, and to the extent permissible by law, the school expressly disclaims any liability which may otherwise be incurred.

A copy of the Board's Policy Manual is available in each school office and is also available on the District website at <a href="http://www.orcsd.org/">http://www.orcsd.org/</a>.

### **EQUAL EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES**

The Oyster River Cooperative School District is committed to the concept and implementation of equal educational opportunities as required by federal and state laws for all students, regardless of sex, race, creed, color, marital status, national origin, sexual orientation or physical or mental disability. See Board Policy AC.

Students and/or parents/guardians should address any questions or concerns to the superintendent of schools.

### **DISTRICT MISSION STATEMENT**

### **MOHARIMET PHILOSOPHY**

Moharimet School educators are committed to an environment which recognizes the individual needs of all children. We seek to help all students know themselves and their capabilities in order to ultimately develop increasingly positive perceptions of self-worth.

We accept our responsibility to know the uniqueness of each child. Recognizing diverse intelligences, we aim to provide each student with appropriate skills, knowledge, and appreciation for continuing intellectual, physical, and emotional growth. We seek to nurture student initiative, resourcefulness and ownership for learning.

Our school incorporates attitudes of respect, mutual purpose, collaboration and cooperation. We strive to develop in our children, our parents, ourselves and our community, a growing understanding of the moral and ethical consequences of personal and collective decisions and actions. We provide opportunities for children to contribute to and participate in a community and to learn how to engage in a purpose greater than themselves.

In a complex and changing world, we as educators, appreciate that we must continually evaluate and improve techniques for meeting the dynamic needs of our children and ourselves.

### **SCHOOL HOURS**

Kindergarten

AM session PM session

Monday - Friday Monday - Friday 8:45 AM - 11:25 AM 12:35 PM - 3:10 PM

Grades 1 - 4

Monday - Friday

8:45 AM - 3:10 PM

It is especially important that children not be dropped off at school before 8:45 AM. There is no adult supervision before that time in the building or on the playground. At 8:45 AM children will go directly to their classrooms to begin the day. School buses will unload at the front of the building at that time.

In 2008 we implemented a parking policy to alleviate the safety issue that is created when bus, car and pedestrian traffic is mixed at the start and end of the school day. Our bus coordinator, central administration and Madbury Police were consulted to take a serious look at what would be in the best interest of the children during both the morning drop off and afternoon pick up times.

In the morning, parents can drop off their children at the Union Congregational Church on Town Hall Road with our staff member or park at the Madbury Town Hall and walk their children into the building. *There is no parking for drop off at the church in the morning.* From 8:40 until 8:55 AM, there will be a staff member available to walk children from the parking lot into the building. The crossing guard will leave his station at 9:00 AM and walk any remaining children into the building. At no time will they be near the bus traffic which will arrive at the same time.

At the end of the day, parents must park at the church or town hall, walk into the building and pick up their children in the foyer of the building where a staff member will verify identification. Our crossing guard is stationed on Town Hall Road each morning and afternoon in order to guide families across the road. There is ample lighting and path clearance throughout the year.

At 8:30 AM and 2:50 PM, automobile traffic entering the main parking lot will not be possible unless there is a major family emergency or a very specific need for a child to be picked up directly at the front door of the school, pre-approved by our office. Passes will be available in the office for exceptions such as medical conditions that make maneuvering the stairs difficult. The main parking lot will reopen at 9:15 in the morning and 3:30 in the afternoon.

This procedure separates the bus and automobile traffic, and there will be no issues of children of any age being in the line of our yellow fleet. There has never been a serious accident involving children at Moharimet, but the mixture of the buses, children and parents in the same vicinity has always been a concern.

Students may ride their bikes to school only if they are accompanied by an adult. Bikes should be parked in the bike rack.

### ATTENDANCE POLICY/ABSENCE REPORTING

Children should be in school every day except in case of illness or emergency. Students may be excused for illness, emergencies, or religious holidays. If your child will be absent, please notify the school and the transportation company (868-1610). You may leave a voicemail on the attendance line at 742-2900 extension #2 or e-mail the school at mohattendance@orcsd.org by 9:00 AM. If you have not notified the school regarding your child's tardiness or absence, a call will be made to your home and/or place of work to confirm your child's whereabouts.

### **EXTENDED ABSENCES**

In the event of an extended absence (e.g. vacations, planned medical leave), please notify the classroom teacher and school office in writing at least two weeks before the absence. This notification should include any requests for schoolwork the student may miss or alternate activities. Please consider your child's academic progress when planning your family vacations.

### **TARDINESS**

Students are considered late as of 8:55 AM and must sign in at the office before going to their classrooms. If your child will be late, please follow the same call-in procedure as for an absence.

### PARENT-REQUESTED EARLY DISMISSAL

Early dismissal from school should be requested only when absolutely necessary. Students are required to bring a "Note from Home" (see below) when parents are requesting an early dismissal although a verbal request will be honored in the event of an unforeseen circumstance. Parents are asked to come to the school office when picking up a child before dismissal time.

### NOTES FROM HOME

In order to keep track of each student's after-school plans, we provide "Notes from Home" at no cost, in packs of 10 regular notes (white) and 2 permanent (yellow). Regular notes are for

daily changes in your child's schedule, and permanent notes are for plans/events that occur on a regular basis such as scouts, Language School, Our Time, or non-school activities that take place on the same day each week. Please fill out both sections of the regular form. It is important to note that if you have more than one child, we require a separate note for each child.

Notes are handled in the office, not the classroom, so having all the information that is requested on the form is very important. When a child does not have a note, it is necessary to reach a parent to confirm the plans, which is time consuming for office personnel and often stressful for the student. Please reserve the practice of calling the office with your child's plans for only when it is absolutely necessary. If you do need to call with a change, please try to make calls for morning kindergarten before 11:00 AM and regular dismissal before 2:30 PM.

### **DISMISSAL**

School is dismissed at 3:10 PM.

If you are picking up your child from school, please park in the Madbury Church or Town Hall parking lot on Town Hall Road and use the path that leads to our parking lot. Anyone for whom parking at the church poses a problem may park at the school with an authorized parking pass available in the office but only in designated parking spaces. There is absolutely no parking in front of the school, in the circular loop or down the sides of the driveway as this presents a safety concern for the children and buses as they arrive to pick up the students. Parents meeting children at the end of the school day should line up in the front foyer. A staff member will check you off on the daily dismissal list. Please note that you may be required to show identification. The staff member will dismiss your child to you.

In situations where legal custody of a student is restricted, please notify the principal and provide a copy of the court documents, so we may act accordingly.

### **VISITORS TO SCHOOL**

Visitors are always welcome at Moharimet School. Please enter via the front door. Parents and visitors must sign in and out of the office when entering/leaving the school. Visitors will be given a Moharimet badge for identification purposes and will be stopped by staff if the badge is not visible. The office will be responsible for the delivery of messages, lunches, books, etc. to students' classrooms.

### **PARKING INFORMATION**

During the school day, parking is available at Moharimet and at the Union Congregational Church or Madbury Town Hall on Town Hall Road. A pathway and steps lead from the church parking lot to ours. In the Moharimet parking lot, parking is allowed in designated spaces only (visitor or numbered). For the safety of our families and buses, the parking lot is patrolled regularly by the Madbury Police. Vehicles parked in the bus loop or in non-designated areas will be ticketed.

For more information about parking during drop off and pick up times, please refer to the School Hours section above.

### **EVENT PARKING INFORMATION**

During special events the Event Parking plan will be enforced. Please adhere to the posted signs. Parking is never allowed in the fire lane, the bus road, or anywhere on Route 155 or Town Hall Road. Parking is allowed in designated parking spots only. Additional parking is available at the Union Congregational Church, Madbury Town Hall and at the Madbury Field parking lots. Any car illegally parked or caught driving on the bus road will be ticketed by the Madbury Police Department.

### **AFTER SCHOOL PROGRAM**

Our Time After-School Program, located in the Multi-Purpose Room at Moharimet Elementary School, is under the direction of Growing Places. The school staff communicates with the leadership of the program but is not responsible for its administration. Our Time operates from the close of school until 6:00 PM. For more information, call 609-969-8677.

### SCHOOL CANCELLATIONS / DELAYED OPENINGS / EMERGENCIES

ORCSD uses School Messenger to notify the parents/guardians of school closings and emergencies via phone and email. Please contact the school to make any changes to your contact information. Between 6:00 AM and 7:15 AM, the following radio and television stations will also announce the school's closing or delay:

Call Letters	Frequency		
WOKQ	FM 97.5		
WTSN	AM 1270		
WHEB	FM 103.3		
WMUR	TV 9		

To check online, visit www.wmur.com or www.orcsd.org.

### **SCHOOL NOTICES**

In our effort to be a green school, most of our notices are emailed home. Printed notices, such as the Moharimet News, will be sent home by family count, which means that your youngest child will be the only one to bring it home. The PTO newsletter, The Weekly Update, is published every Monday and e-mailed to families. If you do not have e-mail, you may request a printed copy.

### **EMERGENCY FORMS**

. Our student emergency form is sent home with each child on the first day of school, but it is also available electronically via our website under the tab: For Parents > Forms > Student Emergency Form.

It is necessary for parents to print out the form and then sign it at the bottom of the page before turning it in to the office.

### **CHANGE OF INFORMATION**

Please notify the school in writing as soon as possible if there is any change of parents'/guardians' or student's address, telephone numbers, e-mail address, last name or parents' place of work. If the change involves more than a phone number, a new emergency form should be submitted.

### **LEGAL CUSTODY ISSUES**

On occasion, parents request that the school not let a child be released to a particular person for various reasons. In some cases we have received court orders or other legal documents with instructions restricting or prohibiting the release of a child to one or the other parent or guardian. Given the serious nature of this situation, we urge parents to provide the school office with a copy of a court order specifying the limitations of child custody, so that we can meet our responsibilities under the law while protecting the individual child in our care. Unless we have legal documentation indicating specific rights and limitations, school personnel may have no recourse but to release the child to either parent or guardian.

### MEDIA INFORMATION

As part of its curriculum, the Oyster River Cooperative School District conducts activities which attract the attention of local print and broadcast media. Oyster River Schools may also wish to use students' photographs, voices or work for promotional and educational reasons, such as in publications, posters, brochures and newsletters; on the district web site, school web site, radio station or cable TV channel, or at community fairs or special district events. The District understands there may well be circumstances in the lives of some children and/or families, which precludes having a child's picture, image or name from being published or broadcast. Consent for media is part of the registration process when a child registers at Moharimet School, and your choice will remain in effect for the duration of your child's time at Moharimet. However, you may change your election at any time by contacting the school office. Please note that releases are not required for public events such as concerts and plays. If you need further information, please contact the building principal.

### **BUS CONDUCT**

The Board has adopted a policy concerning bus conduct (see Board Policy JFCC). Students who misbehave on the bus are subject to suspension of their bus privileges. Parents and students should be aware that District school busses may be equipped with electronic surveillance devices (see Board Policy EBF).

The right to ride a school bus is directly related to a pupil's behavior, attitude and practice of transportation rules and regulations. The driver is in complete charge and must be obeyed.

### **BUS STOPS**

- All students are expected to be at their assigned stops five (5) minutes before the bus is due. The bus CANNOT wait.
- Students should stand back from the road in an orderly line until the vehicle comes to a complete stop.

- Students should enter and exit buses in an orderly manner, realizing that the driver regulates seating arrangements and procedures for movement.
- All students who need to cross the road should do so in front of the bus, only after it has stopped and the driver has motioned them to cross.

### **K-4 BUS DROP OFF POLICY**

When dropping off children in grades Kindergarten through 4th grade, bus drivers are to see a responsible party at the residence to receive the child. If the responsible party is not there, the bus driver must keep the child on the bus and notify the Transportation Office. The driver will bring the student back to the school and the Transportation Office will call the school to inform them of a student being returned. A call will be made to the home of the student to leave a message for the parents/guardians. The only exception to this policy will be if the parent or legal guardian has, in advance and in writing, instructed the Transportation Office to drop their student off without the presence of an adult to receive the child. In this case, the parent/ legal guardian must be specific as to the child's name, address of the drop off and effective dates of the written drop off instructions. Forms are available from the office or from your student's bus driver.

### **ON THE BUS**

- All passengers must be seated while the bus is in motion.
- The driver may assign seats if it is deemed advisable.
- The driver must give permission before a passenger may open a window. Passengers will not extend arms, legs or heads out of windows or shout at pedestrians.
- Nothing shall be thrown IN the bus, OUT OF the bus or AT the bus.
- Students shall keep the bus clean and sanitary.
- Students shall not mar or deface the bus. The offender or his/her parents must pay for any damage.
- Students should not talk to the driver except in an emergency.
- No lunch boxes, books or other objects should be placed in the aisle.
- There will be NO smoking, eating or drinking on the bus.
- Normal conversation is allowed; however, loud talking, shouting and unnecessary confusion is not allowed as it may divert the attention of the driver and could result in a serious accident.
- No live animals.
- No bulky objects will be allowed without previous permission by the driver. No umbrellas or other sharp objects are allowed.
- Students are expected to ride their regularly scheduled route. Any deviation (provided there is space available) must be accompanied by a "Note from Home" sent to the school.
- Kindergarten 4<sup>th</sup> grade students may not leave the bus at any stop other than his/her scheduled stop without a "Note from Home" sent to the school.
- If the driver is unsuccessful in obtaining proper behavior on the part of a student, disciplinary action will be taken, possibly resulting in loss of bus privileges.

### **HOMEWORK**

Homework at Moharimet School should reflect our own needs within the school community and at the same time take into consideration research findings, which make the following points:

In early school years, traditional uniform homework assignments are ineffective.

- Children should devote substantial time to becoming familiar with the many ways of both gathering and storing of information; i.e. computers, video tapes.
- Assignments should provide an opportunity for imagination and creativity.
- Above average students are more likely to do routine assignments and are less likely to profit from them. Therefore, provide assignments that are interest-oriented.
- Less able students are less likely to do routine assignments from which they are more likely to benefit. Therefore, provide more time for preparation and practice in class.
- The basic aim of homework should be learning how to learn.
- Students should have a voice in designing homework.
- At all levels, children should be encouraged to pursue individual interests, both in and out of school.
- Assignments should be individualized and clearly defined.
- Feedback to students is essential for homework to be of use.
- Outlining expectations for parents and communicating with them should be part of the process.
- Providing coaching for parents (i.e. where, when, and how) can increase involvement.

Resource: <u>Homework: A Guide for Parents</u> by Peg Dawson, EdD, NCSP (A copy of this article is available at <u>www.nasponline.org/resources/home\_school/homework.aspx</u> and in the front office upon request.)

### PARENT CONFERENCES / COMMUNICATION

A fall goal-setting conference with parents will be held between October 1 and one week after the end of the first quarter in November. The purpose of this meeting is for parents and teachers to share information and informal assessment results in order to set individual student goals for the school year. Informal assessments may take many forms such as classroom observations, student conferences, writing samples or other pencil and paper tasks.

### **CONTACTING TEACHERS**

The best way to contact each teacher will depend on the individual teacher. You will be notified by your child's teacher at the beginning of the year as to his/her preference.

### PROGRESS REPORTS

Mid-year progress reports will be available online via PowerSchool one week after the end of the second quarter. The purpose of this report is to inform parents and students about each student's progress toward individual goals, academic expectations and classroom/behavior expectations. This report contains both a checklist and a narrative.

The end-of-year progress report will be available online on the last day of school. The purpose of this report is to summarize each student's year-long progress toward individual goals, academic expectations and classroom/behavior expectations. This report follows the same format as the mid-year progress report.

### **COMMON ASSESSMENTS**

**Phonological Awareness -** Kindergarteners are assessed for phonological awareness and the results are used to help guide instruction.

**Reading** – Moharimet has adopted the Developmental Reading Assessment (DRA) as its common assessment of reading. Levels are recorded and used to guide instruction throughout a student's years at Moharimet.

**Writing -** Third and fourth grade teachers use writing prompts to assess writing skills twice a year. This common prompt is scored by team members other than the student's classroom teacher.

**STAR Assessments** – Star Benchmark Assessments are short diagnostic assessments that students take in September, January, and May to see growth across the school year for reading and math. This allows both teachers and parents to see what skills and knowledge students start the school year with as well as what skills and knowledge they have gained.

**State Assessment** – Smarter Balanced Assessment Consortia (SBAC) will be the new annual state assessment. It will replace NECAP. SBAC will be an online assessment that indicates whether or not students have met the Common Core State Standards in Mathematics and English Language Arts.

**Fourth Grade Interviews -** The principal interviews each fourth grade student during the period of March through June. A DVD of that interview is presented to each family at the Fourth Grade Recognition Night.

### LIBRARY MEDIA CENTER

The Moharimet Library Media Center (LMC) is a place where students and staff come to work, learn and explore. The LMC provides services to children and teachers as part of a comprehensive educational experience. The Library Media Staff collaborates with the classroom teacher to raise a generation of Information Literate Students. The student services are designed to assist the learner in his/her ability to find, evaluate, generate and apply information. Information skills that are appropriate for each grade level are taught within the classroom teacher's curriculum. The student also learns to give proper credit for sources used throughout the process. The LMC staff strives to continue helping students and staff to be effective, engaged and ethical users of information while helping to develop a love of reading for pleasure.

### **MULTIPLE COPY COLLECTION**

The Multiple Copy Collection is a critical component of the reading curriculum at Moharimet. The collection consists of leveled sets of books that are categorized on a continuum to help match books to the needs of individual students or groups of students and thereby provide support and challenge to developing readers. Each text in the collection has specific features to support a child's use of existing reading strategies and offers new opportunities to challenge students.

### **FIELD TRIPS**

As part of the educational program of the school, occasional field trips to various points of interest are taken to enrich the experience of children. Such trips are carefully planned and supervised by teachers with the assistance of parents.

A permission slip will be sent home in advance describing the purpose, destination and cost of the trip to be completed, signed and returned to school before the day of the trip.

All bus rules as stated above apply to field trips as well.

### **GUIDANCE SERVICES**

Besides working with children individually and as classroom groups, the counseling staff offers small group counseling on specific topics including, but not limited to conflict resolution, improving social skills, understanding feelings, death of a loved one or pet, and adjusting to parental separation and divorce. The needs of the children determine the nature of small group sessions, and their participation depends upon the approval of their parents. If you would like a counselor to work with your child on a specific area of concern, please contact your child's teacher or the guidance department.

Classroom lessons, called Friendship Circle, usually occur in each classroom every four days (except kindergarten where it occurs once a week) and focus on the many skills involved in social development. The lessons incorporate goals of the Common Core curriculum as well as state and nationally recognized guidance curriculum goals. Block scheduling has made it possible to schedule programs such as third grade Friendly Helper training as part of the third grade curriculum. Friendly Helper interviews of new students in the fall and the resulting display are an important project for fourth graders in addition to their support in solving playground problems and organizing playground equipment. Every year the guidance program schedules and accompanies SASS to each classroom as they present the body safety and abuse prevention program. All parents receive information from that program when it occurs.

The school psychologist and guidance counselor supervisor graduate student interns. The school psychologist serves on the Building Placement Team, which has the responsibility of determining student eligibility for special education services. When deemed appropriate, the school psychologist conducts evaluations to assist in that determination. The school psychologist and counselor consult with parents, teachers, and administrators to assist specific children. Recommendations may include ways to alter the environment or provide other supports to promote greater comfort and learning for the child. The school psychologist and counselor act as liaisons to community counselors, psychologists, psychiatrists, neurologists, and agencies beyond the school. Sadly, there are times when the school psychologist and counselor must help with crisis intervention.

### **INTERVENTION TUTORS**

Moharimet School employs two intervention tutors to ensure that all students are able to engage fully and effectively in the reading curriculum and in the math curriculum at MOH School. The intervention tutors provide targeted support to students in many academic areas but particularly in reading and math. Formal and informal assessments are used to identify specific students in need of supportive instruction and the tutor implements intervention strategies and / or programs within or outside the classroom setting to ensure each student becomes proficient in core academic settings. The Moharimet Reading Specialist and the student's classroom teacher support the tutor in the execution of evidence-based techniques that will enhance literacy and math development. The intervention tutor collects and analyzes data from individualized interim assessments to

design and implement a well-integrated structure of tiered supports that will increase the reading and math achievement for each student.

### **SCHOOL HEALTH SERVICES**

The school nurse is on duty during school hours. She is available to students who become ill or injured during the school day and to parents with questions regarding their children and/or school health policies. She also coordinates the school health curriculum.

School health services include pre-school vision and hearing screening for entering kindergartners, annual vision and hearing screening, height and weight measures and the monitoring of immunizations to keep children in compliance with state regulations. Please contact the school nurse when immunizations are up-dated by your family doctor.

Please feel free to contact the school nurse with any concerns. The school nurse can be reached at 740-8585.

### **ILLNESSES / INJURIES AT SCHOOL**

Chronic illnesses and allergies should be made known to the school nurse. Medication prescribed by the physician for these conditions should be supplied to the school as outlined below.

Students who have had diarrhea, vomiting, and/or a temperature of over I00 degrees should be kept at home until free from symptoms, without the aid of medication, for not less than 24 hours. If a child develops these symptoms during the school day, a parent will be contacted to dismiss the student.

Please remember to notify the school office when your child will be absent from school and leave the reason. When the school nurse is aware of illnesses, such as strep or high fevers, she will try to alert the school community as a preventative measure. If your child will be absent, please notify the school and the transportation company (868-1610). You may leave a voicemail on the attendance line at 742-2900 extension #2 or e-mail the school at <a href="mailto:mohattendance@orcsd.org">mohattendance@orcsd.org</a> by 9:00 AM. If you have not notified the school regarding your child's tardiness or absence, a call will be made to your home and/or place of work to confirm your child's whereabouts.

If a student is well enough to attend school, he/she is expected to go out for recess. Exceptions are made only with a physician's note.

If a student becomes ill or is injured at school and needs to go home, the school nurse will contact the parent/guardian using the contact information provided on the Emergency Form. Please be sure to inform the school office if any of this information changes during the school year.

Head lice are common in school age children. Transmission is caused by head to head contact with a person with head lice. School aged children should be checked regularly for head lice. If you suspect your child has head lice, please notify the school nurse so that she can recommend proper treatment options. For further information, please go to the Moharimet website to click on the link to the NH Department of Health and Human Services fact sheet regarding head lice or go directly to: http://www.dhhs.nh.gov/dphs/cdcs/documents/pediculosis.pdf.

### **MEDICATIONS**

The Board has adopted a comprehensive policy and procedure concerning the administration of medications at school. Parents may request that medications be administered at school in accordance with the established policy and procedure. Students may not carry or self-administer medications, except as permitted by Board policy (see Board Policy JHCD). Questions should be directed to the school nurse.

For students requiring medication during school hours, all medication must be brought to the school <u>by a parent in the original container</u>, clearly marked with the student's name and dosage. Laws regarding dispensing medications are strict.

- Over-the-counter medication A parent must sign a school form allowing the nurse to dispense the medication. The form can be found at <u>www.orcsd.org</u> under the heading: Departments > Health Services > Forms > Student Health Downloads.
- Prescription medication Must be accompanied by a physician's note and a parent must sign the school form allowing the nurse to dispense the medication. The medication must be in the original prescription bottle. Ask the pharmacy to divide the medication into two bottles, one for home and one for school. The form can be found at <a href="www.orcsd.org">www.orcsd.org</a> under the heading: Departments > Health Services > Forms > Student Health Downloads.

### **FOOD SERVICES**

As a food service provider in a child nutrition program, the Moharimet School Nutrition Program is always striving to provide healthy foods in a pleasant atmosphere. In order for students to start the day out right and be ready to learn, we offer a healthy breakfast daily. Lunch consists of a variety of entrees, with four choices daily. We try to introduce and encourage students to eat nutritious new foods they may not have tried, including plenty of fresh fruits and vegetables on our salad bar. Local foods are purchased whenever available. If food allergies are a problem adjustments can be made with a doctor's note. Parents, grandparents, aunts, uncles, and friends are always welcome to join us for lunch with the students, but if purchasing hot lunch, please call the school by 9:15 AM to place your order. Adult lunches are \$4.00 and must be paid for at the time of purchase (exact change is appreciated) or can be charged to your child's account if there are sufficient funds to cover the meal. Please contact Donna Capello, Cafeteria Manager, with any questions.

Monthly menus are posted online, and parents are encouraged to review them with their child. Prepayments are accepted online or can be sent to school with your child in an envelope. Indicate the **child's name** and **classroom teacher** on the envelope. Do not send loose cash, to assure that your child's account will be credited properly. A point of sale system is used to keep track of accounts. Balances and purchase history can be viewed, and payments can be made online at <a href="https://www.sendmoneytoschool.com">www.sendmoneytoschool.com</a>.

Applications for free and reduced breakfast/lunch should be submitted online at <a href="https://www.lunchapp.com">www.lunchapp.com</a>. Simply choose **NH** and **Oyster River**, and then continue as directed on the website. Applications from the previous year will expire in October of the following school year; therefore new applications must be filed every school year. Applications may be submitted any time during the school year if circumstances change. If you do not have access to the internet, a paper application can be obtained at the school office or from the Child Nutrition Director, Doris Demers, who can be reached at 868-5100, Extension 2012.

### **Lunch Price List**

Hot/cold lunch can be purchased @ \$2.50/day (includes an 8 oz. container of milk). Students may bring bag lunches from home and milk can be purchased @ \$.45/day. Snack milk can be purchased @ \$.45/day in Grades 1-4 or @ \$.25/day in Kindergarten. Breakfast is available at \$1.25/day. Juice is \$.45. Reduced breakfast is \$.30 and reduced lunch is \$.40.

### **CAFETERIA CONDUCT**

Children are expected to behave in the same respectful way they would in the classroom (using manners, indoor voices, no running, etc.). After finishing lunch, children will be dismissed by an adult and will separate their trash, recycling and food waste. Before exiting the cafeteria, children must wash their hands with the wipes provided.

### **SNACKS / PARTIES**

We model and teach good nutrition and healthy living in our community. In order to support this outcome, classroom-based celebrations will occur under the direction of the classroom teacher, keeping in mind curriculum, nutrition, special dietary needs and medical conditions. We require that no food for classroom consumption be sent in unless specifically asked for by the classroom teacher.

### PHYSICAL EDUCATION

Physical education is the art of teaching movement. In physical education, the students learn a variety of movement concepts and sport skills to develop into skillful movers. The concepts of force, time, speed and relationships are the fundamental concepts of movement and will be applied to various sport skills and physical situations throughout the school year. In addition, children learn to interact with others to help teach and practice skills and participate in game-like situations in a positive and successful manner. As a result, children develop a positive attitude about themselves and movement and will continue to participate in physical activities throughout their life.

### **ART**

Students have art once every four days as well as some additional class time in collaboration with their classroom studies. Projects are planned to spark creative imagination as well as to develop skills. Some of the areas covered are drawing and painting, cut paper, printing, stitchery, weaving, puppetry, ceramics and constructions.

### **MUSIC / INSTRUMENTAL PROGRAM**

At Moharimet we endorse a comprehensive program of study that is designed to provide students with knowledge, skills and attitudes necessary to make music part of everyday life. Students have music instruction weekly and will experience the musical concepts of beat, rhythm, melody, form, texture and notation. Activities are designed around the concepts to develop the skills of performance in vocal and instrumental music, creating and improvising, listening and evaluating, structured and non-structured movement and reading notation with understanding.

In addition, students in third and fourth grade may participate in a weekly period of chorus, which sings at the holiday concert and performs a musical each spring.

### **SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES**

The Oyster River Cooperative School District provides a free and appropriate public education. Students who are eligible for special education may receive special education and/or related services to meet the educational needs of all students with disabilities ages 3 to 21. Programs for children with disabilities are provided in compliance with state and federal rules and regulations. Students with disabilities are included into regular school programs and activities and receive services based on their individual educational needs.

Moharimet has two special education programs to serve the needs of the students who qualify. The Learning Center staff works with identified students in Grades K-4 who require content support and accommodations, direct instruction, and/or small group or individualized instruction, either within the classroom or outside of the class.

The Extended Resource Program staff works with students who need support more than 50% of their day. This support, individualized or small group, occurs in the context of the student's regular classroom placement and allows for ongoing modifications and adaptations of curriculum.

### **ENGLISH FOR SPEAKERS OF OTHER LANGUAGES**

English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) services are provided by the district to help students with multi-language backgrounds learn and or master all four aspects of the English language - listening, speaking, reading and writing - as well as to give support in the content areas - writing, reading, math, science, etc. The ESOL teacher works in collaboration with the classroom teacher and other specialists as is necessary to ensure the academic success of the ESOL student and their transition into the mainstream classroom.

### CHEATING AND PLAGIARISM

A student commits plagiarism if he/she uses ideas from another person and does not properly cite the source. An assignment containing improperly borrowed ideas which are presented as original thinking is dishonest. Whether the unnoticed borrowing is intentional or not, it is considered plagiarism. At the elementary level, plagiarism includes:

- copying information exactly as it is written in a source
- using another person's original idea but changing and/or developing it with details, examples and facts
- borrowing from another student or teacher with whom the assignment was discussed

At this level, plagiarism will be responded to by educating the child and informing the parent.

### **STUDENT RECORDS**

The Oyster River Cooperative School District complies with all federal and state laws concerning confidentiality of student records (see Board Policy JO). If you need more information, please contact the principal.

### TEXTBOOKS AND OTHER SCHOOL PROPERTY

Students are responsible for proper care and return of textbooks and other school properties issued to them for their use and are liable for the repair or replacement cost of items issued to them that are damaged or lost (see Board Policy JFCB).

Pencils, paper, etc. are furnished by the school. Some teachers, generally upper grades, suggest some supplies be provided by students. However, it is not necessary to purchase any school supplies.

### STUDENT CONDUCT / DISCIPLINE PHILOSOPHY

The intervention and disciplinary procedures in this handbook are intended as guidelines only. The administration reserves the discretion to impose consequences up to and including a recommendation for expulsion for violations of Board policies and school rules. In determining the level of discipline, the administration may consider any relative facts and circumstances, including but not limited to the nature of the violation, the student's grade level, the student's behavior accompanying the violation, the student's willingness to cooperate with the investigation and the student's prior disciplinary record. See Board Policies JICD – Discipline and JICD-R – Suspension and Dismissal.

### **MOHARIMET PEACE POLICY**

It shall be the policy of the Moharimet School to inform parents, at the discretion of the principal, of any acts of violence which occur during the school day. Violence is defined as any behavior that negatively affects the physical or emotional health of another human being child or adult.

Physical violence is defined as behaviors such as fighting, hitting, biting, throwing objects, vandalizing property, etc. when intended to harm another person or deliberately deface property.

Emotional (verbal) violence is defined as behaviors such as swearing, name calling or any other intended affront to an individual, group or the school when intentionally aimed at belittling another human being or the school.

### MOHARIMET DISCIPLINE CONTINUUM

Each classroom teacher has their own strategies for behavior management, which may include personal work space, time out, a card system and/or loss of recess. If behavior necessitates further intervention, the teacher may coordinate with the principal and/or guidance counselors to develop a behavior plan.

Generally the first time a violent behavior occurs, the policy will be reviewed with the student(s) and the issue dropped. In the event of repeated incidences or other behavior concerns, any of the following approaches may be taken:

- Conflict resolution strategies may be taught and used whenever possible.
- A written note and/or phone call to parents from the teacher.
- A phone call to parents from the principal.
- A form letter from the principal's office, which must be returned the next school day.
- A phone call to parents by the child with the principal or his designee in attendance.

If the behavior is repeated the same day or becomes a pattern, the following strategies will be used:

- An in-house suspension.
- A conference with parents will be requested.
- A written plan will be constructed with the child, parents and guidance counselor.
- The child will be sent home when appropriate and arranged with the parent. The length of the suspension/expulsion will be determined by the severity of the offense.
- Any combination of the above.

### **GENERAL SCHOOL CONDUCT RULES AND EXPECTATIONS**

The Moharimet guiding principle for student, parent and staff conduct is posted throughout the school. It reads:

Always behave in ways that show respect for yourself, others and the environment.

Always behave in ways that will hurt no one physically or emotionally.

### PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

There will be regular observance of the Pledge of Allegiance. A person within the classroom shall lead the observance. Any person choosing not to participate may be excused from the activity by making arrangements with the principal. Those not participating in the exercise shall be included in any ensuing discussion.

### **SMOKING AND TOBACCO USE**

The Board has adopted a policy prohibiting smoking and the use of tobacco products on school property or at school-sponsored events (see Board Policy JICH). Students who violate this policy are subject to disciplinary action, and violations by any person will also be referred to law enforcement authorities.

### **DRUGS AND ALCOHOL**

The Board has adopted a comprehensive policy prohibiting students from consuming, possessing, furnishing, selling, receiving, buying, manufacturing or being under the influence of drugs, alcohol and other prohibited substances (see Board Policy JICH). Violations of this policy will result in discipline, including suspension or expulsion from school, and referral to law enforcement authorities. Students who participate in extracurricular activities are subject to additional rules and sanctions.

### WEAPONS, THREATS, AND VIOLENCE

The Board believes that students and staff are entitled to learn and work in a school environment free of weapons, violence, threats (including bomb threats) and other disruptive and illegal behavior. Students are expected to conduct themselves with respect for others and in accordance with Board policies, school rules, reasonable unwritten behavior expectations and applicable state and federal laws. Students who engage in prohibited conduct are subject to discipline up to and including expulsion from school. The

District will also report violations to law enforcement authorities in accordance with applicable state laws (see Board Policy JICI - Dangerous Weapons in Schools).

# HARASSMENT / SEXUAL HARASSMENT

Harassment of students because of sex, race, creed, color, marital status, national origin, sexual orientation or physical or mental disability is prohibited and may constitute illegal discrimination under state and federal laws. Any student who believes he/she may have been harassed is encouraged to discuss the matter with the building principal and may file a complaint which will be investigated. Students who engage in harassment or retaliation for reports of harassment are subject to disciplinary action up to and including expulsion (see Board Policy ACAA – Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students and Policy ACAA-R – Student Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure).

# **BULLYING**

The Board has adopted a Pupil Safety and Violence Prevention Policy (see Board Policy JBC) which prohibits bullying (defined as insults, taunts, or challenges whether verbal or physical in nature, which are likely to intimidate a violent or disorderly response from the student being treated in this manner). Any student who believes he/she has been a victim of bullying should report it to the building principal. Students who engage in bullying behavior are subject to disciplinary action up to and including expulsion.

# **STUDENT DRESS**

Students are expected to keep standards of cleanliness and dress that are compatible with a safe and respectful school learning environment. School administrators have the authority to impose restrictions when, in their judgment, a student's dress disrupts the educational process or poses a threat to health or safety.

No references to drugs, alcohol, tobacco, sexual activity or illegal acts are allowed. The school administration has the authority to prohibit other logos, pictures or messages, which they determine to be in violation of the Board's nondiscrimination or harassment policies or disruptive to the school's learning environment.

A student's day may involve classroom activities using chalk, paint, glue and other "messy" materials. It is therefore suggested that children do not wear their best clothing to school except on special occasions. Slacks or jeans are acceptable attire. Children are expected to wear sneakers for Physical Education.

During the snow season, children are expected to wear appropriate winter clothing, including coats, hats and gloves/mittens. No child is allowed on the playground without snow boots. Snow-pants are required for kindergarten, first and second grade students and optional for third and fourth graders, although recommended for all. A pair of spare socks in your child's backpack is always a good idea during the snow and rainy seasons. The nurse has a limited supply of outdoor winter wear available for families who need assistance. Please contact the nurse directly.

Please label all outdoor clothing, lunch boxes, boots, sneakers, etc. with your child's name. Labeled items are more easily returned if lost.

# **LOST AND FOUND**

There is a box for lost and found items, such as clothing and lunch boxes, in the front hallway. Lost and found items are displayed in the main hallway prior to being packed away. Unclaimed items are donated to charity after one month. In addition, we have a secure lost and found box in the office for special or valuable items like toys, jewelry or cell phones.

# STUDENT USE OF ELECTRONIC DEVICES

Moharimet School prohibits the use of electronic devices such as Game Boys, cell phones, iPods, personal CD players, etc. These items limit social interaction, cause distraction and may be lost/stolen. Staff reserves the right to confiscate these items until the end of the day.

# STUDENT COMPUTER AND INTERNET USE

The Board has adopted a comprehensive policy and set of rules concerning the use of school computers and the Internet (see Board Policy IIBH). Students are required to follow the policy and school rules at all times and have no expectation of privacy in their use of school computers. Students who violate the policy and rules are liable to disciplinary action and suspension of computer privileges. The policy and rules are provided to students and discussed in class each year.

# **SCHOOL STORAGE FACILITIES**

Use of desks and other school storage facilities are privileges granted to students by the school. All storage facilities are school property and remain under the control, custody and supervision of the school. Students have no expectation of privacy in school storage facilities or for any items placed in such facilities. School officials have the authority to inspect and search storage facilities and their contents on a random basis, with or without reasonable suspicion and without notice or consent (see Board Policy JFG).

# **OYSTER RIVER MIDDLE SCHOOL**

# STUDENT HANDBOOK 2014-2015

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Note to Students and Parents1
ORMS Mission and C.A.R.E. Philosophy1
Equal Educational Opportunities1
Absences and Dismissals1
Extended Absence Procedure2
Arrival Time, Tardiness & Drop-off Procedures2
Emergency School Closings & Delays2
ORMS Library2
Student Records3
Special Education Services3
Textbooks & Other School Property3
Valuables3
Student Use of Personal Electronic Devices
Physical Education3
Student Conduct & Discipline4
The Truth About Consequences4
_earning & Lettings Others Learn, Too4
Plagiarism & Cheating4
Smoking & Tobacco Use5
Drugs & Alcohol5
Neapons, Threats & Violence5
Harassment & Sexual Harassment5
Bullying5

Dress Code6	
Computer & Internet Use6	
School Lockers & Storage Facilities6	
School Lunch & Breakfast Programs6	
Snack Policy7	
Nurse's Office	
Medication7	
Emergency Drills7	
Bus Conduct7	
Late Bus & Bus Permission7	
Home & School Communication7	
Visitors7	
Messages8	
Field Trips8	
Lost & Found8	
Media Information8	
Extracurricular Activities8	

# OYSTER RIVER MIDDLE SCHOOL

# STUDENT HANDBOOK 2014-2015

New England League of Middle Schools

**Spotlight School** 

# 1 Coe Drive, Durham, NH 03824

Telephone: (603) 868-2820

# "Working together to engage every learner."

Welcome to Oyster River Middle School. The information in this handbook is intended to help students and parents better understand and navigate their school environment. If you have any questions or concerns please feel free to call at 868-2820 or e-mail Jay Richard, Principal at <a href="mailto:jrichard@orcsd.org">jrichard@orcsd.org</a> or Bill Sullivan, Assistant Principal at <a href="mailto:jrichard@orcsd.org">jrichard@orcsd.org</a> or Bil

#### Note to Students and Parents:

Students and their parents/guardians are responsible for reading and following the rules in this handbook. This handbook has been developed within the framework of the policies of the Oyster River School Board. In case of a conflict between a Board policy and the rules in this handbook, the policy will prevail. The school reserves the unlimited right to make changes to the handbook at any time without prior notice. The handbook is provided solely for the convenience of staff, students and parents, and to the extent permissible by law, the school expressly disclaims any liability which may otherwise be incurred.

A copy of the Board's Policy Manual is available in each school office and is also available on the District website at <a href="http://www.orcsd.org/">http://www.orcsd.org/</a>.

#### ORMS Mission and C.A.R.E. Philosophy

The ORMS mission is to provide a creative and developmentally appropriate learning environment recognizing the educational, social, and emotional needs of every learner. Our goal is that every learner will develop skills needed to become a responsible, lifelong learner who is able to serve the school, community, and/or the world.

Students and staff members at ORMS work within the C.A.R.E. philosophy. To CARE at ORMS means to COMMUNICATE clearly, to have a positive ATTITUDE, to show RESPECT for self, others, and the school environment, and to make the EFFORT necessary to being a successful learner. This philosophy is reinforced throughout each school day at every grade level and in all school programs and activities.

# **Equal Educational Opportunities**

The Oyster River Cooperative School District is committed to the concept and implementation of equal educational opportunities as required by federal and state laws for all students, regardless of sex, race, creed, color, marital status, national origin, sexual orientation, or physical or mental disability. See Board Policy AC.

Students and/or parents should address any questions or concerns to **Dr. James Morse**, **Superintendent of SAU #5.** The phone number is **868-5100** or email at <a href="mailto:jmorse@orcsd.org">jmorse@orcsd.org</a>

#### ABSENCES AND DISMISSALS

If you are absent, please have a parent or guardian call the school. We have an answering machine, which is on from 3:15 p.m. until 7:45 a.m. The school phone is 868-2820 or 868-2155. When calling to report an absence please leave your name, student's grade, their class and a brief message explaining the reason. If the office does not receive a call regarding your absence, we will

attempt to contact a parent either at home or at work. Students who are not in school cannot attend after school activities.

If a student is being dismissed, the student should bring a note signed by a parent to the office at the beginning of the school day and receive a dismissal slip from the office staff. This slip is shown to the classroom teacher at time of dismissal and the student should come to the office to sign out. If a student is returning to school after a dismissal, please check in with the office and receive a pass to class.

# EXTENDED ABSENCE PROCEDURE

Families going on vacation while school is in session must notify the principal and all teachers in writing three weeks in advance. Prior to the absence, teachers will provide a calculation of the student's current average with a brief synopsis of topics to be covered in class during the student's absence. It will be the responsibility of the parents and the student to keep the student current in curricular topics presented in the school during a discretionary absence. The student will not be held accountable for specific assignments missed during the absence period, but will be responsible for subsequent assignment AND for all tests and quizzes relevant to the schoolwork completed by the student's class will not be sent on vacation with the student. Teachers are not required to design a separate program and will not be able to recreate classroom activities for students who are absent for reasons other than illness, emergency or religious observance.

# ARRIVAL TIME/TARDINESS/DROP-OFF PROCEDURES

Students can be dropped off at the front entrance of the building starting at 7:25 AM when ORMS staff supervision begins. Walkers are also expected to wait at the front entrance. All students may enter the building when school starts at 7:35 AM. Students going to band or having breakfast in the Bobcat Café may enter school at 7:25 AM. Students arriving after 7:40 will be marked tardy.

# **EMERGENCY SCHOOL CLOSINGS OR DELAYS**

If school is delayed or cancelled, several radio stations will be notified. Please listen to WTSN (1270 AM), WOKQ (97.5 FM), WHEB (100.3FM) or WERZ (107.1 FM). Information about cancellations or delays will also be posted at <a href="www.orcsd.org">www.orcsd.org</a>, the school district website. In addition an e-mail message will be sent using the SchoolMessenger system. Please contact the middle school office if you are not receiving these SchoolMessenger messages. If no announcement is made, school will be in normal session. On days when school is cancelled, evening activities for that day are automatically cancelled as well.

#### BELCHER MEMORIAL LIBRARY

HOURS: 7:15AM TO 2:45PM

#### GENERAL INFORMATION:

Library resources include print and digital collections.

The digital resources often require log-on information which is available through classroom use and from the library.

Resources found in the library may be borrowed as follows:

BOOKS - 2 weeks (Renewals are possible as long as the item is not on reserve).

REFERENCE RESOURCES - used in the library media center

MAGAZINES AND VIDEOS - overnight loan

AV EQUIPMENT - start with your teacher to arrange use for classroom needs.

Please discuss damaged or lost items with Mr. Bellows.

# **DESTINY LIBRARY CATALOG**

The Destiny catalog is an online system used throughout the school district to identify and access resources at all OR libraries. Grade 5 and new ORMS students are provided a Destiny account and instruction to personalize use of this account.

#### STUDENT RECORDS

The Oyster River Cooperative School District complies with all federal and state laws concerning confidentiality of student records (see Board Policy JO). A notice is sent home with students at the beginning of the year about parent and student rights concerning student records. If you need more information, please contact the Principal or your child's Guidance Counselor.

# SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES

Special education services are available for all students who qualify. If you have questions about whether your child may be eligible for such services, please contact your child's teacher or the Special Education Coordinator, Andrea Biniszkiewicz (grades 5-7). She can be reached at 868-2820 or via e-mail at <a href="mailto:abiniszkiewicz@orcsd.org">abiniszkiewicz@orcsd.org</a> OR Amy Whicher (grade 8). She can be reached at 868-2820 or via e-mail at <a href="mailto:awhicher@orcsd.org">awhicher@orcsd.org</a>.

# TEXTBOOKS AND OTHER SCHOOL PROPERTY

Students are responsible for proper care and return of textbooks and other school properties issued to them for their use, and are liable for the repair or replacement cost of items issued to them that are damaged or lost (see Board Policy JFCB).

#### **VALUABLES**

Please do not bring valuable items or large sums of money to school. If you must do so, please ask one of your teachers or office staff to secure your property during the day. The school assumes no responsibility for lost or stolen items.

# Student Use of Personal Electronic Devices

Students are encouraged to bring in personal electronic devices for educational purposes (cell phones, I-Pods, I-Touch, laptops, tablets, etc.). Students are only allowed to text message during lunch period. Students need adult permission to make cell phone calls during school hours. Inappropriate use of personal electronic devices may result in confiscation by ORMS staff.

Note: Students bringing personal electronic devices to school are responsible for their storage and safety. ORMS is not responsible for lost items as stated above under valuables.

# PHYSICAL EDUCATION

Physical activity is important to a healthy body and mind. Physical education is a required activity at ORMS that occurs every other day for every student all year. Lockers are provided to secure your belongings while participating in physical education, intramurals and/or interscholastic programs. Required articles for physical education class are: shorts, T-shirt, sneakers, towel, and deodorant or body powder. Sweat pants and shirts are recommended. Names on each article of clothing are recommended.

Students' grades will reflect compliance with the above requirements. If you need to be excused from physical education for more than two consecutive classes, you will need to show a doctor's note to your teacher.

#### STUDENT CONDUCT AND DISCIPLINE

The rules and disciplinary procedures in this handbook are intended as guidelines only. In determining the level of discipline, the administration may consider any relevant facts and circumstances, including but not limited to the nature of the violation, the student's grade level, the student's behavior accompanying the violation, the student's willingness to cooperate with the investigation, and the student's prior disciplinary record. For more information see Oyster River School Board policies JG-Discipline; JGB-Detention; JGD-Suspension and Dismissal.

# THE TRUTH ABOUT CONSEQUENCES

Every choice you make has a consequence. Good choices will have positive consequences and poor choices may have consequences that you don't like. Your middle school years are important years because you will be given more opportunities to assume responsibility for your actions. With this increased independence comes the need to accept responsibility for personal choices. It is a real sign of maturity when a person can accept the consequence of a poor decision.

Every day you will be faced with making decisions and making choices. Sometimes you will make mistakes and you will need to accept a consequence for those mistakes. Serious incidents, particularly that are unsafe, may have more serious consequences, such as a detention or a suspension. Choices that create an unsafe environment for others, like bullying or

harassment, could result in a suspension. You are an individual and you will be treated like an individual throughout your middle school experience but it your responsibility to make appropriate choices for behavior.

The continuum of possible disciplinary consequences is as follows:

Verbal Warning: For most first offenses the incident is treated as a learning experience. It is assumed on most first offenses that the student made an honest mistake and only requires a warning. At this time the rule in question is clearly explained and future consequences for repeated incidents is outlined. If the behavior involved is extreme or negatively impacts others the consequence could jump ahead to a higher level. Please note that regardless of the level of consequence involved the rule in question is always explained to the student and questions answered in hopes of avoiding future incidents.

Lunch/Recess Detention: A recess detention is generally assigned for lower level behaviors. Depending on the circumstances it could be served as community service by helping to clean-up in the cafeteria, served in the classroom of a teacher or be served as a time-out in the principal's office. The administration or classroom teacher will determine which method is most appropriate given the individual circumstances.

After-school Detention: An after-school detention is extra time spent after school as a consequence for your actions. These are generally assigned for repeated low level offenses or for an extreme behavior that negatively impacts others or disrupts the classroom environment. A detention may be assigned by your teachers or by the school administration. Detention begins at dismissal time (2:35) and generally will last until the late bus at 4:00 PM. This time will be used for doing schoolwork, reading, performing community service, or other related work, so come prepared. Parents will be notified prior to a student serving a detention. Failure to cooperate with the rules of detention will result in a higher level of consequence.

Suspension: There are two kinds of suspensions utilized at ORMS. Those two types are an in-school suspension and an out-of-school suspension. An in school suspension is served in the principal's office during the school day. An out-of-school suspension is served at home under parent supervision. Anyone receiving either of these suspensions may not participate in, or attend, any after-school or evening sports or activities on that day. Suspensions are only given for serious or chronic offenses. In all cases of suspension, a parent will be contacted.

#### LEARNING AND LETTING OTHERS LEARN, TOO

Everyone is here to learn. Everyone's job is to do their best. This means being respectful when others are talking and cooperating when you are asked to do something. Be sure to ask questions when you don't understand and to be respectful of any student who asks a question, or gives a wrong answer, even if the answer is obvious to you! Take responsibility for your own learning and be honest about your work. At ORMS learning is the most important activity and everyone has **a** responsibility to contribute to a productive atmosphere that promotes this primary purpose.

#### Plagiarism/Cheating

A student commits plagiarism if he/she uses ideas from another person and does not properly cite the source. A paper containing improperly borrowed ideas which are presented as original thinking is dishonest. Whether the unnoticed borrowing is intentional or due to sloppy workmanship, it is considered plagiarism. Plagiarism includes:

- 1. Word for word lifting of information from a source
- 2. Paraphrasing information which is not common knowledge
- 3. Using another person's original idea but developing it with details, examples and facts
- 4. borrowing from another student or teacher with whom the assignment was discussed

The consequences for plagiarism are up to the discretion of the teacher. Plagiarism can result in a zero for the assignment and, depending upon the circumstances, may cause a student to fail the class even for a first offense. In addition, any subsequent offenses may result in disciplinary action up to and including, suspension.

# **SMOKING AND TOBACCO USE**

The Board has adopted a policy prohibiting smoking and the use of tobacco products on school property or at school-sponsored events (see Board Policy JFCG). Students who violate this policy are subject to disciplinary action and violations will also be referred to law enforcement authorities.

#### DRUGS AND ALCOHOL

The Board has adopted a comprehensive policy prohibiting students from consuming, possessing, furnishing, selling, receiving, buying, manufacturing or being under the influence of drugs, alcohol and other prohibited substances (see Policy JFCI). Violations of this policy will result in discipline, including suspension or expulsion from school, and referral to law enforcement authorities

#### WEAPONS, THREATS AND VIOLENCE

The Board believes that students and staff are entitled to learn and work in a school environment free of weapons, violence, threats (including bomb threats), and other disruptive and illegal behavior. Students are expected to conduct themselves with respect for others and in accordance with Board policies, school rules, reasonable unwritten behavior expectations and applicable state and federal laws. Students who engage in prohibited conduct are subject to discipline, including expulsion from school. The District will also report violations to law enforcement authorities in accordance with applicable state laws. Please see Board Policy JFCJ - Dangerous Weapons in Schools.

# HARRASSMENT/SEXUAL HARRASSMENT

Harassment of students because of sex, race, creed, color, marital status, national origin, sexual orientation, or physical or mental disability is prohibited and may constitute illegal discrimination under state and federal laws. Any student who believes he/she may have been harassed is encouraged to discuss the matter with the building principal and may file a complaint which will be investigated. Students who engage in harassment or retaliation for reports of harassment are subject to disciplinary action up to and including expulsion. See Board Policy ACAA - Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students and ACAA-R - Student Discrimination and Harassment Complaint

#### **BULLYING**

The Oyster River School Board has adopted a Pupil Safety and Violence Prevention policy (Policy JBC). ORMS defines bullying as:

#### Bullying

Anyone who repeatedly uses physical, verbal (including spoken and written language) and/or cyber forces in a negative manner toward or in regard to another person.

# Physical Bullying

The repeated use of force toward a person's body or personal belongings.

Examples

Hitting, punching, shoving, kicking, tripping, spitting, elbowing, shoulder checking, pinching, flicking, throwing objects, hair pulling, restraining, inappropriate touching, damaging physical property

# Verbal Bullying

Repeatedly using negative and/or damaging words (including both spoken and written) toward or in regard to another person (with mal intent).

Examples

Negative comments, name calling, lies, rumors, racial slurs, teasing, cussing, threats, fake complements, using the R word, sexual orientation attacks

# **Cyber Bullying**

Repeatedly using social media, email or electronic devices in a negative manner toward or in regard to another person. *Examples:* 

Posting negative comments, fake profiles, sexting, making fun of photos, tagging photos, Twitter fights, posting negative videos, texting photos, negative status posts, hate blogs, hate pledges, texting rumors, hacking profiles, nasty emails, sending mean forwards

Any student who believes he/she has been a victim of bullying should report it to the building principal. Students who engage in bullying behavior are subject to disciplinary action up to and including expulsion.

# **ORMS DRESS CODE**

Student clothing should not distract from the educational process or make others feel uncomfortable. Rude or offensive messages on clothing or other items is unacceptable, this includes but is not limited to references to drugs, alcohol, tobacco, sexual activity, or illegal acts. All undergarments must be covered. Loose or baggy pants and shorts need to be belted so undergarments are not exposed. Shirts which reveal the chest, undergarments, or abdomen are not acceptable. During the winter

months and any other extreme weather conditions, the school reserves the right to require students to wear coats outside for any activity. Sunglasses are not to be worn inside the building unless there is a diagnosed medical reason. The school administration has the authority to prohibit other logos, pictures or messages which they determine to be in violation of the Board's nondiscrimination or harassment policies, or disruptive to the school's learning environment.

# **COMPUTER AND INTERNET USE**

The Oyster River School Board has adopted a comprehensive policy and rules concerning the use of school computers and the Internet (see Policy IIBH). Students are required to follow the policy and school rules at all times and have no expectation of privacy in their use of school computers. Students who violate the policy and rules are liable to disciplinary action and suspension of computer privileges. The policy and rules are provided to students and discussed in class each year.

# SCHOOL LOCKERS AND STORAGE FACILITIES

Use of lockers, desks and other school storage facilities is a privilege granted to students. All storage facilities are school property and remain under the control, custody, and supervision of the school. Students have no expectation of privacy in school storage facilities or for any items placed in such facilities. School officials have the authority to inspect and search storage facilities and their contents on a random basis, with or without reasonable suspicion, and without notice or consent. Please see Board policy JFG.

# SCHOOL LUNCH AND BREAKFAST PROGRAMS

#### "The Bobcat Café"

Breakfast and lunch are available to all students. Breakfast begins at 7:25 am. Lunches are scheduled by grade. Students may purchase hot lunches (menus are posted) or purchase items such as sandwiches, fruit, yogurt, juice or cookies from the snack bar. The monthly menu is posted at the website. Applications for free or reduced lunch can be obtained from the office.

All students are assigned PIN numbers for their personal accounts. In the case that students don't have sufficient funds, they will NOT be allowed to receive a hot lunch.

Parents can manage their child's lunch account on-line. Instructions for how to set up and manage an on line lunch account can be found at the school district web site (<a href="https://www.orcsd.org">www.orcsd.org</a>) under the Food Services link.

Expectations for behavior in the cafeteria are consistent with school-wide expectations under the CARE philosophy. You are responsible for cleaning your personal table space and floor space.

# **SNACK POLICY**

Each team will establish a time that students are allowed to eat snack in classrooms.

# **NURSE'S OFFICE**

The school nurse is available to all students who are ill or hurt. Before going to see the nurse, you should have a signed pass from a teacher. The school nurse will call home should a student need to be dismissed due to illness. We ask that students do NOT call/text home prior to visiting the nurse.

# **MEDICATION**

All medication brought to school must be kept in the nurse's office, labeled with the student's name and accompanied by a signed parental request. This includes over the counter medications such as aspirin, Tylenol, or decongestants. The Board has adopted a comprehensive policy and procedure concerning the administration of medications at school. Parents may request that medications be administered at school in accordance with the established policy and procedure. Students may not carry or self-administer medications except as permitted by Board policy (see Policy JHCD). Questions should be directed to the School Nurse.

#### **EMERGENCY DRILLS**

During the year, there will be scheduled and spontaneous drills. When the alarm sounds, follow your teacher's directions for departure from the room. No talking is allowed during a drill. All students should exit in single file lines. Directions for exits are

#### STUDENT TRANSPORTATION

# **BUS CONDUCT**

The Board has adopted a policy concerning bus conduct (see Policy JFCC). Students who misbehave on the bus are subject to suspension of their bus privileges. Parents and students should be aware that District school buses may be equipped with electronic surveillance devices (see Board PolicyEBF).

# LATE BUS/BUS PERMISSION

Students need written permission from their parent or guardian to ride a bus to a friend's home. This note must be stamped at the main office before 2:00. Only students involved in a school sponsored after school activity may ride the late bus. The late bus operates Monday - Thursday and leaves school at 4:15pm.

#### PARENT INFORMATION

# **HOME/SCHOOL COMMUNICATION**

It is our goal as a school to be as paperless as possible. For every school-wide mailing we don't send we save at least 700 sheets of paper and \$400 in postage. For this reason we try to put all relevant information, like this handbook, on our school web site at <a href="www.orcsd.org/orms/">www.orcsd.org/orms/</a>. We ask all students and parents to bookmark the school web site and check it regularly. Academic teams will post homework and important announcements on their individual team web sites. The home page of the middle school will provide an accurate calendar of up-coming school-wide events. Each team, with parent/guardian cooperation, will keep an e-mail list that will be used for team business as well as school-wide announcements. At the beginning of the school year when these e-mail lists are being created it is helpful if all families provide accurate e-mail addresses to their son/daughters team of teachers.

# **VISITORS**

For school security reasons all adult visitors must stop at the main office and sign in before proceeding with any business in the school. The main office is located at the front door off of Dennison Rd. Please always enter the building through this entrance.

All visitors are required to wear a white identification sticker to show that they have checked in at the office.

#### **MESSAGES**

During any school day, the office staff receives at least 50-100 messages to be delivered to students.

Messages will be delivered to students via the intercom at 2:20 p.m. each day. Messages needing immediate attention should be requested in emergencies only. We ask parents and students to make plans before school begins each day to minimize the need for messages.

#### **FIELD TRIPS**

When appropriate, field trips are scheduled during the year to enhance classroom instruction. Parents will receive an information letter explaining the intent and cost of the trip, and requesting permission for students to participate. Parents are often invited to chaperon trips. This help is greatly appreciated. Students may be excluded from trips for discipline reasons. Families will be contacted in a timely fashion in these cases.

#### **LOST AND FOUND**

The ORMS "lost and found" is located outside the cafeteria in the hall-way. Due to storage issues lost items will only be stored there temporarily. At various times throughout the year it is announced that the "lost and found" items will be donated to charity if not claimed. It is the individual student's responsibility to check for personal items. Please label your possessions so they may

be returned more effectively.

# MEDIA INFORMATION

On occasion, the District allows media outlets such as local newspapers, radio stations and television stations to visit the school to report on school programs and activities. The District may also feature students, or their photographs, voices or work for promotional and educational reasons on the District web site, cable TV, publications or school/community events. A Media Permission Form is sent home at the beginning of 5th grade or upon enrollment. Please note that releases are not required for public events such as athletic events or graduation. If you need further information, please contact the building principal.

# **EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES**

At ORMS we offer a wide range of extra and co-curricular activities. Participation in all activities is considered a privilege granted to students for being a good citizen of our community. In order for a student to be eligible to participate in these activities they must be in good academic standing (passing all courses at the end of each quarter) and meet ORMS behavior expectations.

For more information on extracurricular activities at ORMS please visit our school website at www.orcsd.org/orms/.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Faculty Directory	2
District Calendar	3
Bell Schedule: Delayed Opening/Early Release, Emergency Closing & Contact Information	4/5
General Information:	
Philosophy, Mission Statement, Students' Expectations	6
The School Day & Arrival Times	7
Attendance	7/8
Announcements & Visitors	9
Library/Media Services	10
Lockers/Locks	10
Textbooks and School Property	10
Notification of FERPA Rights	10/11
Notification of Student Directory and Media Information	11/12
Academic/Counseling Information:	
Course Loads, Class Changes and Grades	12/13
Awards Assembly/Graduation Ceremony	13/14
Counseling Services	14
Plagiarism/Cheating	14/15
Special Education	15
Student Assistance Program	15
Student Records	16
Working Papers	16
Unscheduled Time	16
Open Campus Information	17
Open Campus information	17
Conduct:	
Statement of Philosophy	18
Consequence Continuum	18/19
Expectations for Behavior and Prohibited Forms of Conduct	19-21
Disciplinary Procedures	22-25
Student Activities:	LL-LU
Dances, Current Activities & Establishing a New Group	26
Eligibility & Fundraising	26
Student Health and Nutrition:	20
	27
	27
Student Transportation:	21
	20
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	28
•	29
Use of School Technology Resources:	00/00
	29/30
Policy for Acceptable Use	30

# DIRECTORY

# ADMINISTRATION

Todd Allen
PRINCIPAL
Sara Wotton
DEAN OF FACULTY
Michael McCann
DEAN OF STUDENTS
Corey Parker
ATHLETIC DIRECTOR
Amy Whicher

SPECIAL EDUCATION COORDINATOR

Deborah Jabre PRINCIPAL'S SECRETARY Lisa Richardson OFFICE SECRETARY Danuta Richards

NURSE

# **ART**

Tracy Bilynsky Tim Lawrence Maria Rosi

# **BUSINESS/COMPUTER ED.**

Pamela Carr Heather Healy

# **ENGLISH**

Corey Blais
Martin Brewer
Trevor Garman
Shauna Horsley
Shawn Kelly
John Monahan
Kara Sullivan
Marike Yatsevitch

# FAMILY & CONSUMER SCI.

Mary Kishbaugh

# **COUNSELING DEPARTMENT**

Heather Machanoff
counseling director
Jason Baker
Kim Cassamas
Kim Seaman
school counselors
Sandra Rogers-Osterloh
counseling secretary

# **INDUSTRIAL TECHNOLOGY**

Mike Troy

# LIBRARY/MEDIA SERVICES

Kathleen Pearce (Librarian)
Wally Keniston (Library Assistant)
Kathleen Young (Video Production)

# **MATH**

Jamie Brigante Erica Cooke Andrea Drake Peter Harwood David Nichols William Reeves Robert Reynolds Brendan Whalen

# **MUSIC/FINE ARTS**

Marc LaForce
Meredith Freeman-Caple

# PHYSICAL EDUCATION/HEALTH

Don Maynard Amy McPhee John Morin Robert Quaglieri

# SPECIAL EDUCATION

Ann Golding
Dagmar Lamberts (Counselor)
Samantha Meeker
Jenn McGuinness
Estie Ott

# SPECIAL EDUCATION (cont.)

Jon Peterson

Nicholas Ricciardi

Brian Ryan Carolyn Smith Heather Stanley Louise Stoddard

# **SCIENCE**

Tracey Benkosky
Celeste Best
Jonathan Bromley
Barry Kaplan
Mark Lawrence
Nathan Oxnard
Jim Thibault
Jennifer Wainwright

# SOCIAL STUDIES

Derek Cangello David Hawley Lou Mroz Matthew Pappas Pamela Raiford Karen Van Dyke Brian Zottoli

# **STUDENT SERVICES**

Joseph Saxe school Psychologist

Kristen Wilson SPEECH PATHOLOGIST

# **WORLD LANGUAGE**

Mary Beaton Leslie Gelsomini Wendy Gibson Tom Hausmann Steve Lord Barbara Milliken

# **Oyster River Cooperative School District**

# SCHOOL CALENDAR

# 2014-2015

# Approved by School Board: January 8, 2014

Deliberative Session: TBD\* Voting Day: TBD

	AUGUST/	"Subject to Change						
	SEPTEMBER 2014			FEBR	HAR	V 201	5	
	M T W Th F							
		8/25 & 8/26 Teacher Workshop Days	M		W	Th	F	
	A	8/27 1st Day for Students Gr. 1-12					. *.*	
	TW TW △ 28 29	8/28 1st Day for Kindergarten	2	3	4	- 5	6	1
(24)	X 2 3 4 5	9/1Labor Day Observance	9	10	11	12	13	(15)
• •	8 9 10 11 12	9/2 1st Day Preschool	16	17	18	19	20	1 ''''
	15 16 17 18 19		X	X	X	X	a X	
	22 23 24 25 26	10/3 Teacher Workshop						1
	29 30	10/13 Columbus Day		<b>377</b>				7
		11/7 Teacher Workshop	11:5	MA	RCH	2015		
*	OCTOBER 2014	11/11 Veterans' Day (Observed)	M	T	W	Th	- P	
	M T W Th F	11/26 - 11/28. Thanksgiving Recess	2	3	4	. 3	6	
			9	10	H	12	TW	
<b>(01)</b>	1 2 TW	12/24-1/2 Holiday Recess	16	17	18	19	20	(21)
(21)	6 7 8 9 10		23	24	25	26	27	
	X 14 15 16 17	1/19 Martin Luther King Day	30	31	400 407	20		
	20 21 22 23 24	1/26 Teacher Workshop	-	31				
	27 28 29 30 *31							
		2/24 President's Day (Observed) 2/23 • 2/27 Winter Recess		AP	RIL 2	015	2.3	
	NOVEMBER 2014	27 43 • 27 27 WHIST RECEIS	M	T	W		-	
		3/13 Teacher Workshop	M			Th	F	
	MTWTEF	4/27 - 5/1 Spring Recess		2.0	1	2	3	
(15)	3 4 5 6 TW		*6	7	8	9	10	(18)
1/	10 X 12 13 14	5/15 Teacher Workshop	13	14	15	16	17	(107
	17 18 19 20 21	5/25 Memorial Day	20	21	22	23	24	
	24 25 X X X		X.	X	X	X	1.0	
		TBD ORHS Graduation						
		6/22 With 5 Beilt In - Seow Days						í
	DECEMBER 2014			M	AY 20	15	- ,_	1
- 1			M	T	W	Th	P	
	M T W Th F	Δ First Day of School for Students		A .		e 84		
(17)	1 2 3 4 5	Δ Last Day of School (unless more than 5			-	-	X	4401
(17)	8 9 10 11 12	make-up days are required)		5	6	7	8	(18)
	15 16 17 18 19		11	12	13	14	TW	
	22 23 X X X	TW Teacher District Workshop Days	18	19	20	21	22	
	x x x	(no school for students)	X	26	27	28	29	
		X School Closed - Holiday/Vacation						
	JANUARY 2015	1		TE	NE 20	18.8	11601	
		* End of Quarter		30	ME Z	13		
/10>	M T W Th F	Anticipated last day for students is 6/22. The	M		W	133	P	
(18)	A recognition of X no. X	calendar allows for five school cancellation	1	2	3	4	. 5	(11)
	5 6 7 8 9	days. If less or more than five days are needed to	. 8	. 9	10	11.	12	, ,
	12 13 14 15 16	cover cancellations, the schedule will be	15	16	17	18	19	
	X 20 21 *22 23	adjusted accordingly.	Δ	23	24	25	26	
	TW 27 28 29 30	IL-2il						

2013-14 Adopted Calendar = 1,068 Instructional Hours 2014-15 Proposed Calendar = 1,068 Instructional Hours

# **Oyster River High School Bell Schedules**

Mon., Tues., Fri.	Wednesday	Thursday  Period B (7:35 – 9:10)				
Period A (7:35 - 8:25)	Period A (7:35 – 9:10)					
Period B (8:30- 9:20)	Office Hours (9:15 – 9:45)	Period D (9:20 – 10:55)				
Period C (9:25 - 10:20)	Period C (9:50 – 11:25)	Lunch 1/ Period E (11:00-11:30/ 11:35-12				
Period D (10:25 - 11:15)	Feliou 0 (8.30 – 11.23)	Period E/ Lunch 2 ( 11:00-11:50/ 11:55-12:25)				
Period E (11:20 - 12:40)	Lunch 1/ Period E (11:25-11:55/ 12:00-12:50)	Pariad 0 (40:00 0:05)				
Period F (12:45 - 1:35)	Period E/ Lunch 2 (11:30-12:20/ 12:20-12:50)	<b>Period G</b> (12:30 – 2:05)				
Period G (1:40 - 2:30)	Period F (12:55 - 2:30)	Office Hours (2:10 – 2:30)				

**Delayed Opening:** In the event of a weather delay, school will begin at 9:35. Single period classes are approximately 30 minutes in length. Students with late arrival privileges must time their arrival to school accordingly.

Delayed Opening							
Period A (9:35 - 10:10)							
Period B (10:15- 10:50)							
Period C (10:55 - 11:30)							
Period D (11:35 - 12:05)							
Period E (12:05 - 1:10)							
Period F (1:15 - 1:50)							
Period G (1:55 -2:30)							

Assembly/Student Senate Schedule: From time to time, Student Senate meetings, assemblies and other special events will necessitate a modified schedule. Every effort will be made to give students timely notice of changes. Students and parents are encouraged to check the website for information about upcoming events.

# **Contact Information**

# Oyster River High School 55 Coe Drive Durham, NH 03824

Oyster River High School: 868-2375

ORHS Fax:

868-1355

School Nurse:

868-2375 x6005

ORCSD Transportation:

868-5100 x2601

Athletic Department:

868-2375 x6007

SAU Office:

868-5100

# **Emergency School Closing/Delay Information**

WMUR Channel 9

WTSN 1270 AM

**WOKQ 97.5 FM** 

All closing and delays are communicated via the School Messenger system. Please make sure that correct contact information has been provided to the school. If there are any problems with your receiving information from the school please contact the Counseling Department.

You may also find information on our website: http://www.orcsd.org/school/orhs

# GENERAL INFORMATION

# **NOTE TO STUDENTS AND PARENTS**

Students and their parents/guardians are responsible for reading and following the rules in this handbook. This handbook has been developed within the framework of the policies of the Oyster River School Board. In case of a conflict between a Board policy and the rules in this handbook, the policy will prevail. The school reserves the unlimited right to make changes to the handbook at any time without prior notice. The handbook is provided solely for the convenience of staff, students and parents, and to the extent permissible by law, the school expressly disclaims any liability that may otherwise be incurred. Parents/guardians and students are encouraged to contact a member of the administration if they have any questions about the contents of the handbook. A copy of the Board's Policy Manual is available in each school office and is also available on the District website at <a href="http://www.orcsd.org/">http://www.orcsd.org/</a>.

# **EQUAL EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES**

The Oyster River Cooperative School District is committed to the concept and implementation of equal educational opportunities as required by federal and state laws for all students, regardless of sex, race, creed, color, marital status, national origin, sexual orientation, or physical or mental disability. (See Board Policy AC). Students and/or parents should address any questions or concerns to the Director of Pupil Services at 36 Coe Dr., Durham NH 03824.

# OYSTER RIVER PHILOSOPHY

The philosophy at Oyster River High School is that students will be challenged to meet high expectations within a context of caring. Faculty members make demands of students at the same time that they are supportive and encouraging. The Board policy of individualized instruction is taken very seriously. All students are challenged to meet their potential in heterogeneously grouped classes. The result of this approach to education is that students excel in basic skills while they also develop the life skills of self-discipline and teamwork. ORHS graduates have received a great deal of practice in thinking as well as in reading, writing, speaking, and listening. They leave the school well prepared for further training and for full participation in the world of work.

# ORHS MISSION STATEMENT

Oyster River High School promotes a safe and nurturing community where the uniqueness of each member is valued. In this spirit, we are committed to becoming educated, ethical, responsible citizens who strive to contribute positively toward the betterment of ourselves, our school, our society and our world.

# STUDENTS' CURRICULAR AND CO-CURRICULAR EXPECTATIONS

<u>ACADEMIC</u>: Students will develop skills across content areas in literacy, communication, critical thinking, problem-solving and technology to the best of their abilities.

<u>CIVIC</u>: Students will be prepared to assume active roles as responsible citizens who contribute to local, state, national and global communities.

<u>SOCIAL</u>: Students will learn and demonstrate respect for themselves, others and the environment so that every member feels accepted and valued. Students will explore skills and attitudes that will enable them to adopt a healthy lifestyle.

# THE SCHOOL DAY

The school day officially begins at 7:35 and ends at 2:30 and on Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday consists of seven academic periods, including a 30-minute lunch. On alternating Thursdays and Fridays, classes meet for 90 minute blocks on either Thursday or Friday, depending upon individual student schedules.

# **ARRIVAL**

Buses begin arriving at 7:00 a.m. and continue until approximately 7:30 a.m.

The cafeteria opens for breakfast and snacks at 7:00 a.m.

The library opens at 7:15 a.m. and closes at 3:30 p.m.

All students and visitors arriving after 7:40 a.m. must use the Main Entrance at the front of the building as all other doors will be locked after that time.

# **ATTENDANCE**

State law requires that student attendance be taken and recorded during each school day.

"Attendance" means presence in school, class and all other assigned activities. To participate in co-curricular activities, students must be present for the entire school day or on an approved field trip. Exceptions will be made for verified medical appointments, etc. by administration.

Consistent class attendance is essential to the integrity of the high school educational experience. Much of what occurs in the classroom cannot be duplicated through make-up work. Absent students miss in-depth explanations, discussions and concepts, and are not participating in the required program. It is important to understand that excessive absences, regardless of whether or not an absence is excused, will almost always lead to a diminished performance by the student. In many cases excessive absences will lead to course failure. Regular attendance to all classes is a requirement of all ORHS students.

The following categories are considered legitimate grounds for an absence assuming all school procedures are followed:

- 1. Medical/Dental appointments: Documentation from a physician or dentist.
- 2. School sponsored activity: Coach/teacher will provide rosters
- 3. Religious holidays: Parent note
- 4. Bereavement: Parent note
- 5. Court appointments: w/Court Documentation

A note from a parent explaining all absences of any type must be submitted within three days of a student's return to school.

**Excessive Absences:** If students exceed <u>5 undocumented absences</u> in one quarter the student will automatically earn a <u>64%</u> for each class that exceeds 5 for the quarter. This will be noted as <u>"E"</u> for Excessive Absence Failure. <u>Documented</u> absences listed above do not count towards these 5 absences. Special exceptions to this policy will be granted if it is indicated on any formal educational plan (i.e. 504 plans, Individual Education Plan).

Students will be able to appeal Excessive Absence failures at the end of each marking period. An appeal board will meet after grades have closed to hear all appeals. The appeal board will be made up of teachers, guidance and administration.

A letter will be sent home to parents when a student has reached 3 absences in a quarter (unless Documented and Medical absences make up the 3 absences). Parents and students are reminded that they can monitor their attendance on PowerSchool. Attendance is recorded in real-time on a period by period/daily basis and accessible via your parent and student PowerSchool portal. When students exceed 5 absences in a quarter (non-documented/non-medical), a letter will be sent home notifying parents that the student will receive an "E" (64%) for excessive absence failure. In this letter parents and students will be notified of their right to appeal the "E" and be reminded of the process for doing so.

Students will not be eligible for the credit recovery/summer school if they exceed the following undocumented attendance limits:

- a. 20 absences for a 1.0 credit course
- b. 10 absences for a 0.5 credit course

**Tardiness to class:** Students are expected to be in class when the class bell rings. There are 5 minutes of passing time between all classes so students should have no trouble being on time. Students will receive classroom level consequences when they are tardy. If a student develops a pattern of tardiness the issue will be referred to administration for appropriate disciplinary action. If a student is tardy by more than 10 minutes it is treated as an absence.

**Cuts/Truancy/Unexcused Absences (AU):** Students who cut a class, or are truant may NOT make up missed work for credit; this includes tests, quizzes or labs. A student who has cut a class for the second time may lose his/her parking permit for the remainder of the semester. Please note, students who cut classes, are excessively tardy or who leave school grounds without authorization will continue to be subject to disciplinary consequences in addition to academic penalties.

**Absences:** Parents are asked to phone the attendance line (868-2375 x 6006) by 7:35 a.m on the day of the absence. When we have not received notification and a child is absent, the office will make every effort to contact parents, but this is not always possible. Please make every effort to proactively contact the attendance line when a student is absent from school for any reason.

All absences that are not accounted for will be marked as AU(Absent Unexcused) at the end of the school day. Students will have <u>3 days upon their return to school to provide appropriate</u> <u>documentation</u> or an excuse for each absence.

**Early Dismissal:** A note must be turned in to the Main Office prior to the dismissal. Students must sign out in the Main Office prior to leaving campus.

**Make-up Work:** All make-up work as a result of an absence, including tests, must be completed in a timely fashion as determined by the teacher.

**Planned Extended Absences:** Parents are urged to plan family trips during school vacations so as not to interfere with the education of the student. The school must be notified of planned absences at least two weeks before the first day a student is out. Forms are available on our web site and in the Main Office. Make-up work will be given to students either before or after the absence based on what the teacher deems as most beneficial for the student and what is most practical depending on the circumstances.

# **AFTER-SCHOOL ACTIVITIES**

The school day officially ends at 2:30. Students should not remain at school after this time unless they are participating in a supervised activity such as team practice, meeting with teachers or attending Homework Den, driver's education, theater rehearsal, or detention. Each such activity is confined to an appropriate area of school (classrooms for meetings, stage for rehearsal, gym for athletic practice, etc.) It is not safe for students to be in the building without supervision either before or after school. Student taking the late bus are required to have a pass signed by their faculty advisor or a front office staff member in order to use this service.

# **DAILY ANNOUNCEMENTS**

Those people wishing to have announcements read over the intercorn are requested to submit them in writing to the Main Office by the end of the day <u>before</u> they are to be read. Student announcements need to be co-signed by a faculty advisor.

# **VISITORS**

Building security is very important to us in the Oyster River District. To maintain a safe and secure learning environment for our students and the following procedures have been implemented for entering and leaving ORHS:

To ensure student safety and building security, all students, staff members and visitors must enter and leave the building through the front entrance and register/sign out with the office. Whenever possible a school employee will escort visitors to destinations in the building. Student visitors are generally not allowed due to issues of space, supervision and liability. Unauthorized student visitors are not allowed in the building, on school grounds, or on school buses, once again for reasons of security and safety. Guidance counselors may arrange for a prospective student to visit the school

All school doors will be locked starting at 7:40(student arrival time). Doors will remain locked throughout the day and after school. If you need to gain access to our school during the day, volunteers/ visitors are asked to follow the procedure listed below:

- Ring the buzzer on the far right side door (fourth to the right) of our entry doors
- Visitors will then be greeted by a staff member over the intercom and asked for specifics related to your visit
- If you need to drop off a lunch or item for your son or daughter, please call ahead to notify us of your approximate arrival. This will help expedite your entrance to ORHS.
- All visitors are required to check in at the office, sign in and affix a visitor's badge in a visible location.

One door at the front entrance will be unlocked after 3:00 for after-school activities.

# LIBRARY/MEDIA SERVICES- BRUCE SMITH LIBRARY

The mission of the Bruce Smith Library is to encourage students to become independent and capable lifelong learners who seek out, evaluate, use, and create information for a variety of purposes. Through class visits to the library, direct instruction, small group work, and one-on-one assistance from the librarian and library assistant, students have abundant opportunities to meet this goal.

In addition to traditional print materials selected to meet the personal interests and academic needs of our students, the library lends digital equipment, provides access to online databases, and assists students in downloading e-books and audio books from our state library system. For needs that reach beyond our collection, the library participates in the statewide interlibrary loan network, lending and borrowing items from libraries around New Hampshire.

The library is open every school day from 7:15 to 3:30, except for early release days when it closes at 12:15. Over 200 students use the library on an average day, so we ask for students' cooperation in keeping the library a productive and neat work environment for all. Food and drinks (other than plain water) are not allowed, and computers and other equipment should be used for school-related activities only.

# LOCKERS/LOCKS

Lockers and locks are the property of the Oyster River School District and students should have no expectation of privacy as a result. Their use is for the security of student property only. Use of lockers, desks and other school storage facilities including school parking lots are privileges granted to students by the school. All storage facilities are school property and remain under the control, custody and supervision of the school. School officials have the authority to inspect and search storage facilities and their contents on a random basis, with or without reasonable suspicion, and without notice or consent. Please see Board policy JFG.

Students should not keep items of value in their lockers. The school is not responsible for lost or stolen items. Using masking or cellophane tape only, you may post items on the <u>inside</u> of your locker, only. Posted items should be in good taste and appropriate for school use.

# TEXTBOOKS AND OTHER SCHOOL PROPERTY

Students are responsible for proper care and return of textbooks, locks and other school property issued to them for their use, and are liable for the repair or replacement cost of items issued to them that are damaged or lost (see Board Policy JFCB). Students should place their names on the inside cover of all books when they are issued in an effort to better insure identification if they are misplaced. Failure to reimburse the school for the cost of loss or damage to issued texts or other school property may result in the loss of borrowing privileges, computer privileges and/or subsequent issuance of other texts.

# NOTIFICATION OF THE FAMILY EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS AND PRIVACY ACT

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) affords parents and students over 18 ("eligible students") certain rights with respect to student's education records. They are:

 The right to inspect and review the student's education record within 45 days of the day the district receives a request for access. Parents or eligible students should submit to the school principal a written request that identifies the record(s) they wish to inspect. The principal will make arrangements for access and notify the parent or eligible student of the time and place where the records may be inspected.

2) The right to request the amendment of the student's education records that the parent or eligible student believes are inaccurate or misleading. Parents or eligible students may ask the Oyster River Cooperative School District to amend a record that they believe is inaccurate or misleading. They should write the school principal, clearly identify the part of the record they want changed, and specify why it is inaccurate or misleading.

If the district decides not to amend the record as requested by the parent or eligible student, the district will notify the parent or eligible student of the decision and advise them of their right to a hearing regarding the request for amendment. Additional information regarding the hearing procedures will be provide to the parents or eligible student when notified of the right to a hearing.

 The right to consent to disclosures of personally identifiable information contained in the student's education records, except to the extent the FERPA authorizes disclosure without consent.

One exception which permits disclosure without consent is disclosure to school officials with legitimate educational interests. A school official is a person employed by the district as an administrator, supervisor, instructor, or support staff member (including health or medical staff and law enforcement unit personnel); a person serving on the school board, a person or company with whom the district has contracted to perform a special task (such as an attorney, auditor, medical consultant, or therapist); or a parent or student serving on an official committee, such as a disciplinary or grievance committee, or assisting another school official in performing his/her tasks.

A school has a legitimate education interest if the official needs to review an education record in order to fulfill his or her professional responsibility.

4) The right to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education concerning alleged failures by the district to comply with the requirements of FERPA. The name and address of the office that administers FERPA are:

Family Policy Compliance Office U.S. Department of Education 600 Independence Avenue SW Washington DC 20202-4605

# NOTIFICATION OF STUDENT DIRECTORY AND MEDIA INFORMATION

Oyster River School District directory information includes the following:

- Name
- Field of study
- Most recent previous school attended
- Dates of attendance, degrees, and awards

- Participation in officially recognized activities and sports
- Weight and height of athletes

Parents or eligible students may refuse to let the school designate any or all of the directory information about the student as directory information by writing a letter to the principal within the first ten (10) school days of the school year and describing any or all of the information not to be released. A parent or eligible student may invoke their right to restrict the release of directory information at any time during the school year by providing written notice to the principal. If no such notification is received, directory information may be released to news outlets, colleges, etc. when requested.

As part of its curriculum, the Oyster River Cooperative School District conducts activities every year which attract the attention of local print and broadcast media. Oyster River Schools may also wish to use your child's photograph, voice or student work in publications, posters, brochures and newsletters; on the district web site, radio station or Cable TV channel; or at community fairs or other special district events. As with respect to directory information, a parent or eligible student may invoke their right to restrict the release of these images by providing written notice to the principal.

# ACADEMIC/COUNSELING INFORMATION

Students and parent/guardians are encouraged to refer to the ORHS Program of Studies, available on the Counseling Department website, for more detailed information on courses and academic issues.

Course Load/Class Changes- All students are required to take a minimum of 6 courses. Students may add courses to their schedules, providing space is available, for a period of up to four (4) school days following the start of the course.

Students who withdraw from a course within five weeks of its start will receive no grade and the course will not become part of the student's permanent record. Students who withdraw from a full-year course after five weeks of attending the course will receive the grade earned to date for the quarter during which the withdrawal occurred. A grade of "W" will be assigned for the remaining quarters, and a final grade of "W" will be recorded on the transcript; a "W" is not factored into the calculation of the student's cumulative GPA, although any "W" will remain part of the student's permanent transcript, as a matter of record. Students who withdraw from a semester-long course prior to the posting of Q1 or Q3 progress report grades will also have a "W" included on the permanent transcript for the course being dropped, adhering to the same guidelines as outlined for a year-long course

Courses that are more than one-half completed may not be dropped. Therefore, should a student discontinue a full-year course any time after the conclusion of Quarter 2 or a semester course any time after the conclusion of Quarter 1 or 3, a grade of "F" will be assigned for all remaining quarters and final average as well. A final grade of "F" does factor into GPA.

Courses taken for a letter grade, Pass/Fail, and audit are all subject to the guidelines listed above. A student transcript typically reflects all academic endeavors, attempted and/or completed, throughout the high school career.

**Grade Reporting-** PowerSchool provides up-to-date grade information for students and parents. While grades are available throughout the school year, Quarterly progress reports and Quarterly grades are posted and added to the permanent record (transcript). Parents who wish to have grades mailed home should make that request to the Main Office, in writing. Parents are encouraged to request additional information about student progress and performance from the Counseling Department and/or teachers at any time.

Occasionally a student is assigned a grade of Incomplete. Students are expected to complete requirements for the course in such a situation within two weeks of the close of the quarter or a grade of "F" will be assigned. Students with extenuating circumstances must receive permission for extensions from the principal.

GRADE	GRADE POINT	PERCENTAGE RANGE
A+	4.33	98-100
A	4.0	93-97
A-	3.67	90-92
B+	3.33	87-89
В	3.0	83-86
B-	2.67	80-82
C+	2.33	77-79
С	2.0	73-76
C-	1.67	70-72
D+	1.33	69
D	1.0	66-68
D-	0.67	65
F	0.0	64 AND UNDER

# Grades for Honor Roll Recognition

Highest Honors:

3.83 average with no D's, F's or Incompletes

High Honors:

3.33 average with no D's, F's or Incompletes

Honors:

3.00 average with no D's, F's or Incompletes

In order to qualify for Honor Roll one must be enrolled in a minimum of five graded courses.

# Additional Learning Opportunities for Students

ORHS offers a variety of opportunities for students to enhance their academic experience. Students may take courses through the Virtual Learning Academy (VLACS), a public online high school. ORHS offers courses through the Running Start program which affords students with dual credit earning both high school and college credit via the NH Community College system. Students may apply to the CATS Program (Challenging Academically Talented Students) at UNH and when accepted, may enroll in any available 400 or 500 level course. ORHS currently offers a

dual credit course in conjunction with Southern New Hampshire University for students enrolling in Anatomy & Physiology. For a complete listing of courses, opportunities and procedures, please visit the Counseling Office website to review the Program of Studies. Please contact the Counseling Department with any questions.

Awards Assembly- Students who have contributed to the school are recognized throughout the school year, but most noticeably during the Awards Assembly each June, which parents are welcome to attend. Certificates, pins and letters are given to participants in co-curricular, extracurricular and academic activities. In addition, juniors and seniors are recognized through the awarding of honorary books from colleges and universities. Students who would like information on these awards and honors should speak with their school counselor.

**Graduation Ceremony-** School Board policy states that only those who have successfully completed the requirements for graduation are eligible to participate in the ceremony.

Counseling Services- The Counseling Department at Oyster River seeks to provide support for students in the areas of academic, career, personal, and social development and achievement. A comprehensive counseling program is employed. Students are exposed to career planning, college selection and beyond through the use of planning resources available in the Counseling office, as well as classroom Counseling presentations. Four counselors are available to support students, parents, and faculty in working towards the common goal of student success. The Counseling Office hopes to assist students with both personal and social development, and foster a positive school climate. Through consultations with teachers, parents and students, counselors are able to respond to the individual needs of each student, as well as the changing needs of the student body.

In continuing the ongoing evaluation of the comprehensive program, counselors began utilizing a goal-oriented approach with freshman students during the 2012-2013 school year. Each student discussed a tentative four-year plan to individualize their learning experience and the plan will be reviewed each year. Components include course selection, extracurricular interests, and potential career goals and post-secondary plans. The Counselor Assignments for the 2014-2015 school year are as follows:

Kim Cassamas A-Go Jason Baker Gr-N Kim Sekera O-Z

Heather Machanoff Counseling Director/College Placement Facilitator

Student caseloads are distributed based on the alphabetical assignment. The case management of 504 plans is handled by the corresponding counselor based on alphabet division. In addition, all freshmen and their parents will have the opportunity to meet with their school counselor prior to the start of the academic year to discuss goals, priorities and to address specific concerns and/or questions. The College Placement Facilitator will work to increase Extended Learning Opportunities for ORHS students including Virtual Learning Academy, University of New Hampshire, and Great Bay Community College. The Counseling Department will also work to develop and clarify specific pathways for career fields and corresponding coursework within each

pathway. The Counseling Department develops programming to ensure each student is provided with a high quality of service and that the needs of all students are met.

Students and parents are encouraged to make appointments with counselors whenever questions arise by calling the Counseling Department main line at 868-2375 x6032.

The Counseling Department maintains information about colleges, college fairs, financial aid and careers. Representatives from many colleges and universities nationwide visit Oyster River High School, with the greatest concentration of visits during the fall semester. College-bound students are urged to check in with the Counseling Office regularly for dates and times of visits, as well as utilize the college and career search program, Naviance.

Permanent records for students at Oyster River High School are also maintained in the Counseling Office. These records are sent to schools and colleges where a student applies. Employers, bankers and business organizations also request transcripts and personal recommendations. Students may see their files by appointment with their school counselor.

**Special Education Services-** Federal law guarantees all students the right to a free and appropriate public education. The legislation states that every intellectually, physical, or emotionally handicapped child is entitled to an education. It further stipulates that handicapped students are to be educated with non-handicapped students whenever possible in the least restrictive environment.

Special education services are available for all students who qualify. If you have questions about whether your child may be eligible for such services, please contact your child's teacher or the Special Education Coordinator.

**Student Assistance Program-** The Oyster River Cooperative School District recognizes the need for education and assistance for students whose lives may be impacted by chemical dependency. Chemical dependency is a serious illness, but it can be successfully treated with early identification and support from community resources and support in the educational environment.

The Student Assistance Program of the district provides preventative measures to support students in the decision not to use or abuse alcohol and other drugs, and provides education, evaluation, intervention and assistance to students whose lives are affected by chemical dependency or other alcohol and drug related problems. Please contact a guidance counselor or school administrator for more information.

**Student Records-** The Oyster River Cooperative School District complies with all federal and state laws concerning confidentiality of student records (see Board Policy JO). A notice is sent home with students at the beginning of the year about parent and student rights concerning student records including dissemination of student information to military recruiters (as required by law) and post-secondary institutions. If you need more information, please contact the Principal or your child's Guidance Counselor.

**Working Papers-** Working papers, required until age 16, may be obtained in the Guidance Office. In accordance with New Hampshire State Law, the same academic criterion is applied to issuance of working papers as to Athletic Eligibility. If the minimum is not maintained, working papers can be revoked.

**Unscheduled Time-** Not all of a student's school day is scheduled. Unscheduled time is also part of the school program. Unscheduled time permits choice in a school community with many options. Appropriate uses of unscheduled time include studying, eating (in the cafeteria only), quiet socializing in designated areas, and working in open labs, resource centers or studios.

The school provides additional structure for students who do not use their unscheduled time effectively. For example, juniors and seniors may be assigned to a study hall if they violate the Code of Conduct, leave school grounds without permission or are failing a course.

While ninth and tenth graders are actually assigned to a specified place each period of the day, teachers may issue passes for students to utilize resource areas during study hall. Sophomores who have achieved Highest Honors qualify for unassigned time privileges. However, these students must report to study hall for attendance and then can make use of common and/or resource areas (library, cafeteria, or courtyard). This privilege will be revoked in case of a drop in grade point average, disciplinary problems, or the recommendation of a teacher.

# Students are NOT permitted in the following areas during unscheduled time or lunches:

- -wooded areas surrounding the school, including the outdoor classroom
- -locker areas or hallways (with the exception of seniors in the senior core)
- -parking lots or other areas that are not supervised unless on their way to or from a vehicle

Students are expected to keep noise levels down and preserve a relaxed atmosphere that does not violate the rights of others to carry on their interests. Students are also expected to keep social gathering areas clean and free of litter and other debris. If these expectations are not adhered to then privileges may be revoked at the discretion of the administrative team. Students who are found in unauthorized areas or who have left school grounds without permission will be subject to search at the discretion of the ORHS administration.

# **Open Campus Information and Guidelines-**

In order to provide Junior and Senior students with the experience of monitored freedom, teach valuable skills such as time management and personal responsibility, as well as recognize and reward students for high performance in academics and standardized testing, Oyster River High School is now offering Open Campus privileges to Senior and Junior students.

The opportunity to leave campus during unscheduled time allows students the chance to refresh and refocus for the remainder of the school day. Greater freedom and flexibility during unscheduled time forces students to develop valuable skills in time management and personal responsibility that will be important after high school.

Juniors and Seniors must meet the following criteria in order to be eligible for Open Campus privileges:

- Have enough credits to be able to graduate on time
- Have no serious disciplinary violation on record (at discretion of Administration)
- Abide by all rules presented in the Student Handbook and Open Campus handout
- Have an Open Campus release form and an Emergency Form on file, both signed by Parent/Guardian

All Open Campus privileges may be revoked for academic or disciplinary reasons at the discretion of the Administration. Open Campus privileges are applicable only during unassigned periods and lunch. The only way you can get permission is by having one of these forms on file; **phone calls will not be accepted**.

# The Open Campus Privilege:

Open Campus is a privilege granted by parents/guardians and Oyster River High School Administration to eligible Senior and Junior students. Students with Open Campus privileges are allowed off campus during unassigned time and lunch only. Students leaving school for scheduled appointments (i.e. doctor's and/or dentist appointments) are still required to bring in a signed note from a parent/guardian to the front office, even if the appointment is during their unassigned period (this acts as a safeguard in the event of tardiness in returning to school). For safety reasons (in the event of a drill or actual emergency) all students must sign out when leaving the building and sign back in upon return. All students making use of open campus privileges should be leaving and entering through the main entrance at the front of the building ONLY. Failure to follow this procedure will result in revocation of Open Campus privileges.

# CONDUCT

# STATEMENT OF PHILOSOPHY

The faculty and administration of Oyster River High School assume that consideration of others will guide personal conduct. The rights, privileges, dignity, and safety of other people serve as criteria by which the appropriateness of personal conduct is evaluated. So, too, are acts that place an individual in danger. Our discipline code at Oyster River was created so that all students can share a rewarding and enjoyable high school experience. We hope that this code helps foster an open atmosphere of mutual trust, respect, and acceptance among members our school community. A safe and orderly school environment, where all students reach their greatest academic potential, is the primary goal of the code of conduct.

# **CONSEQUENCE CONTINUUM**

**Teacher Detention**- may be assigned by the classroom teacher to students who detract from the classroom learning environment. The duration of teacher initiated after school detentions are at the discretion of the classroom teacher, generally not to exceed an hour.

**Administrative After-School Detention-** may be assigned to students for non-classroom incidents or because of ongoing classroom behavior issues. The duration of the administrative after-school detention will generally not exceed one hour.

**In-School Suspension-** the removal of a student from regular classes by an administrator for misconduct an initial incident of misconduct including cutting class, exceedingly disruptive behavior, etc.

**Short-Term, Out of School Suspension-** the removal of a student by a representative designated in writing by the Superintendent, for a period of time not to exceed 10 school days for serious or ongoing misconduct. Suspended students are not allowed to use school transportation or to be on school property during the suspension, nor are they permitted to attend school functions or participate in practices, rehearsals, games or performances. **External suspension counts toward the number of days missed with respect to attendance and could result in a loss of credit.** 

**Long-Term Suspension-** the removal of a student from school for a period in excess of 10 school days. Only the School Board or representative designated in writing by the school board is authorized, following a hearing, to continue the suspension of a pupil in excess of 10 days. The School Board's designee may be the Superintendent or other designated individual, but may not be the individual who suspended the pupil for the first 10 days.

**Expulsion-** Any pupil may be expelled from school by the School Board for gross misconduct, or for neglect or refusal to conform to the reasonable rules of the school or for an act of theft, destruction, or violence (as defined in RSA 193- D I\*) or for possession of a pellet gun or BB gun or rifle. The pupil shall not attend school until restored by the School Board. Any expulsions shall be subject to review if requested prior to the start of each school year. Further, any parent or guardian has the right to appeal any expulsion by the School Board to the State Board of Education.

The intervention and disciplinary procedures in this handbook are intended as guidelines only. The administration reserves the discretion to impose consequences up to and including a recommendation for expulsion for violations of Board policies and school rules. In determining the level of discipline, the administration may consider any relevant facts and circumstances, including but not limited to the nature of the violation, the student's grade level, the student's behavior accompanying the violation, the student's willingness to cooperate with the investigation, and the student's prior disciplinary record. (See also Board Policies JG – Discipline; JGB – Detention; JGD – Suspension and Dismissal).

Students and parents should be aware that school infractions which are also crimes will be reported to the Durham Police Department. For example, according to state law (RSA 78:12-6) "No person under 18 years of age shall purchase, use, or possess tobacco products." Similarly, since ORHS is a designated Drug-Free Zone, any person who violates the law with respect to possession of alcohol or controlled substances is subject to state and local police sanctions as well as school disciplinary measures.

# **EXPECTATIONS FOR BEHAVIOR AND PROHIBITED FORMS OF CONDUCT**

**Bullying-** The Board has adopted a Pupil Safety and Violence Prevention policy (Policy JBC) which prohibits bullying (defined as insults, taunts, or challenges whether verbal or physical in nature, which are likely to intimidate a violent or disorderly response from the student being treated in this manner. Any student who believes he/she has been a victim of bullying should report it to the building principal. Students who engage in bullying behavior are subject to disciplinary action up to and including expulsion.

**Dress Code-** Students are expected to adhere to standards of cleanliness and dress that are compatible with a safe and respectful school learning environment. School administrators have the authority to impose restrictions when, in their judgment, a student's dress disrupts the educational process or poses a threat to health or safety.

Overtly sexual clothing (which includes clothing which, by its brevity, shortness, looseness or tightness, is sexually explicit), clothing that is so distracting to students and teachers that they cannot learn or teach, or any apparel which by being worn at certain times or places or which through word or design is demeaning or discourteous shall not be allowed. Specific guidelines to keep in mind are "all of your outerwear must cover your underwear" and tops and dresses must have straps and cover the midriff area.

No references to drugs, alcohol, tobacco, sexual activity, or illegal acts are allowed. The school administration has the authority to prohibit other logos, pictures or messages which they determine to be in violation of the Board's nondiscrimination or harassment policies, or disruptive to the school's learning environment.

Questionable articles of clothing will fall subject to this policy at the discretion of the administration. Students who violate the school dress code will be held in the main office until more suitable clothing is found and will be expected to make up missed class time in detention.

**Drugs and Alcohol-** The Board has adopted a comprehensive policy prohibiting students from consuming, possessing, furnishing, selling, receiving, buying, manufacturing or being under the influence of drugs, alcohol and other prohibited substances (see Policy JFCI). Violations of this policy will result in discipline, including suspension or expulsion from school, and referral to law enforcement authorities. Students who participate in extra-curricular activities are subject to additional rules and sanctions.

When a student is suspected of using an illegal substance he/she will be brought to the nurse's office for an assessment. This assessment may include the taking of vital signs and either part or all of the DWI Detection and Standardized Field Sobriety Test. A student who fails to comply with the assessment requirement will be suspended from school.

**Electronic Devices/Stereos-** Electronic devices such as pagers and cellular phones are not allowed to be used during class time or in the library and should be turned off in these areas. The use of personal listening devices such as I-Pods should not interfere with the day-to-day operations of the school. Students who use them in such a manner that it interferes with others will be expected to turn them in to a teacher or administrator upon request. Laser pens are not allowed on school grounds at any time. **Violation of this rule will result in confiscation of the device.** 

Harassment/Sexual Harassment- Harassment of students because of sex, race, creed, color, marital status, national origin, sexual orientation, or physical or mental disability is prohibited and may constitute illegal discrimination under state and federal laws. Any student who believes he/she may have been harassed is encouraged to discuss the matter with the building principal and may file a complaint which will be investigated. Students who engage in harassment or retaliation for reports of harassment are subject to disciplinary action up to and including expulsion. See Board Policy ACAA – Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students and ACAA-R – Student Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure.

**Inappropriate Language-** The decision as to what constitutes abusive or foul language is at the discretion of the faculty and administration. The consequences for the use of inappropriate language are as follows:

**Warning if:** first offense, spoken in relative quiet, used within a personal conversation **Detention if:** repeated offense, loud (others can hear the remarks), a more serious level of vulgarity

Suspension if: causes school disruption, malicious in intent, or directed toward a fellow student, a staff member or administrator

**Plagiarism/Cheating-** A student commits plagiarism if he/she uses ideas from another person and does not properly cite the source. A paper containing improperly borrowed ideas which are presented as original thinking is dishonest. Whether the unnoticed borrowing is intentional or due to sloppy workmanship, it is considered plagiarism. Plagiarism includes:

- 1. word for word lifting of information from a source
- 2. paraphrasing information which is not common knowledge
- 3. using another person's original idea but developing it with details, examples and facts
- 4.borrowing from another student or teacher with whom the assignment was discussed

Plagiarism results in a zero for the assignment and, depending upon the circumstances, may cause a student to fail either the quarter or the course, even for a first offense. In addition, any subsequent offenses may result in disciplinary action up to and including, suspension.

**Smoking-** The Board has adopted a policy prohibiting smoking and the use of tobacco products on school property or at school-sponsored events (see Board Policy JFCG). Students who violate this policy are subject to disciplinary action up to and including suspension and violations may also be referred to law enforcement authorities.

Weapons in the School- The Board believes that students and staff are entitled to learn and work in a school environment free of weapons, violence, threats (including bomb threats), and other disruptive and illegal behavior. Students are expected to conduct themselves with respect for others and in accordance with Board policies, school rules, reasonable unwritten behavior expectations and applicable state and federal laws. Students who engage in prohibited conduct are subject to discipline up to including expulsion from school. The District will also report violations to law enforcement authorities in accordance with applicable state laws. Please see Board Policy JFCJ - Dangerous Weapons in Schools.

Consistent with the Gun-Free Schools Act of 1994, "any student who is determined to have brought a weapon to school: is subject to said policy "requiring the expulsion from school for a period of not less than one year (365 days)." In accordance with the intent of the act, the superintendent may "modify the expulsion requirement on a case by case basis."

Articles defined by law as dangerous weapons include, but are not limited to knives, guns, firecrackers, potentially explosive chemicals, brass knuckles, etc.. Also prohibited on school property are toy and antique weapons which could cause fear or disruption to the school environment.

# LEVEL I

Level I Offenses usually involve minor misbehavior on the part of the student which impedes orderly classroom procedures or interferes with the orderly operation of the school. These misbehaviors can usually be handled by an individual staff member but sometimes require the intervention of other school support personnel.

DISCIPLINARY OPTIONS	Verbal reprimand Special assignment Behavior contract	Withdrawal of privileges Teacher detention Parental contact		
PROCEDURAL RESPONSES	There is immediate intervention by the staff member who is supervising the student or who observed the misbehavior	Repeated misbehavior requires that contact be established with the parent(s). A conference with the parent may be arranged. Involvement of the counselor and/or administrator is appropriate.	A proper and accurate record of the offense and disciplinary action is maintained by the staff member. School administration should be notified of Sexual Harassment issues at all levels of the Disciplinary Standards.	
STUDENT OFFENSE	Classroom disturbance Classroom tardiness Cheating and lying	Abusive language Improper behavior in hallways Non-defiant failure to	comprehend assignments or carry-out directions. Harassment/Sexual Harassment Failure to follow the reasonable rules of the school	

. . . .

# LEVEL II

Misbehavior whose frequency or seriousness tends to disrupt the learning climate of the school. The infractions, which usually result from the continuation of LEVEL I misbehaviors, require the intervention of personnel on the administrative level because the execution of LEVEL I disciplinary options has failed to

correct the situation. Also, included in consequences are serious enough to re	correct the situation. Also, included in this level are misbehaviors which do not represent a direct threat to the health and safety of others but whose educational consequences are serious enough to require corrective action on the part of administrative personnel.	ne health and safety of others but whose educational
STUDENT OFFENSE	PROCEDURAL RESPONSES	DISCIPLINARY OPTIONS
Continuation of unmodified Level I misbehavior	The student is referred to the administrator for appropriate disciplinary action.	Behavior modification Administrative detention
Disruptive classroom behavior	H	Saturday detention
Repeated unexcused truancy,	The administrator meets with the student and/or teacher	In-school suspension
school tardiness, unauthorized presence in a restricted area or	and effects the most appropriate responses.	Includes all of the preceding
absence from one's assigned area	The teacher is informed of the administrator's action.	cascipinally opinals.
Failure to sign in/out of one's		
assigned area	A proper and accurate record of the offenses and the	
Misuse of a pass	disciplinary action is maintained by the administrator.	
Use of electronics in an		
unauthorized area	A parental contact must be made.	
Defiant failure to carry out a		
staff member's instruction		
Violating Dress Code Policy		
Gambling		
Smoking		
Using forged notes or excuses		
Improper/unauthorized use of a		
motor vehicle		
Refusal to identify oneself to a		
staff person		
Disrespectful behavior toward others		
Harassment/Sexual Harassment		
Possession of tobacco		
Intentional pushing/shoving of others		
Failure to follow the reasonable rules of the school	of the school	

# LEVEL III

of others in the school (or at any school app	nism in the school. Corrective measures whi	the best interests of all students.	DISCIPLINARY OPTIONS	ction In-school suspension	Short-term (1-10 days)	out-of-school suspension or	Long-term (greater than	10 days at the discretion	of the School Board or	designee) out-of-school	suspension					Includes all of the preceding	disciplinary options	4				
Acts directed against persons or property but whose consequences do not seriously endanger the health or safety of others in the school (or at any school approximately approximately and school approximately appro	activity). These acts might be considered criminal but most frequently can be handled by the disciplinary mechanism in the school. Corrective measures whi	school should undertake, however, depend on the extent of the school's resources for remediating the situation in the best interests of all students.	PROCEDURAL RESPONSES	The administrator initiates disciplinary action by investigating the infraction In-school suspension	and conferring with staff on the extent of the consequences.		The administrator meets with the student and confers with the parent	about the student's misconduct and the resulting disciplinary action.		A proper and accurate record of offenses and disciplinary actions	is maintained by the administrator.		There is restitution of property and damages.									
Acts directed against persons or prop	activity). These acts might be conside	school should undertake, however, de	STUDENT OFFENSE	Possession of stolen property	Possession/use of prohibited	substances including alcohol	and drugs	Possession/use of fireworks	Stealing	Fighting (simple)	Vandalism (minor)	Threats to others	Use of obscene or threatening	language towards others	Failure to follow an administrator's	Instruction	Unmodified Level II misconducts	Gross misconduct	Harassment/Sexual Harassment	Failure to follow the reasonable rules	of the school	

# LEVEL IV

student from school, the intervention of law enforcement authorities and/or action by the board of school directors. New Hampshire school authorities are Acts which result in violence to another's person or property or which pose a direct threat to the safety of others in the school (or at any school approved activity). These acts are usually criminal and are so serious that they may require administrative actions which result in the immediate removal of the obligated to report clearly establish criminal offenses to law enforcement authorities.

STUDENT OFFENSE	PROCEDURAL RESPONSES	DISCIPLINARY OPTIONS
Unmodified Level III misconduct	The administrator verifies the offense, confers with the	Short-term (I - 10 days)
Extortion	staff involved, and meets with the student.	out-of-school suspension
Bomb threat		Long-term (greater than 10 days
Possession/use/transfer of	The student is immediately removed from the school	at the discretion of the School
dangerous weapons	environment. Parents are notified. Law enforcement	board or designee) out-of-school
Assault/battery	officials are contacted.	Suspension
Vandalism (major)		
Sale of stolen property	A complete and accurate report is submitted to the	Expulsion
		•
Arson	Superintendent for Board action.	
Transfer or sale of prohibited	•	Other board action which results
substances including alcohol	The student is given a full due process hearing before	in appropriate placement
and/or drugs		Includes all of the preceding
Driving to endanger		disciplinary options
Gross misconduct		
Harassment/Sexual Harassment		
Any unlawful act or criminal offense		
not previously stated.		
Failure to follow the reasonable rules		
of the school		

# NOTE:

One incident may encompass more than one offense. Example: A Student leaves the building without permission, is found by a staff member and refuses to identify himself. This student may be liable for disciplinary action for both offenses.

Students assigned to In-School Suspension lose all late arrival or early dismissal privileges through the period of suspension.

Penalties for offenses are subject to revision by the school administration as need dictates.

#### STUDENT ACTIVITIES

#### **Current Student Activities and Clubs:**

Art Club	Mouth of the River
Athletic Council	National Honor Society
Community Service	Pit
Drama Club	Quiz Bowl League
Equestrian Club	 Race Unity Diversity Club
French Club	Robotics Team
Gay/Straight Alliance	Russian Exchange Program
Granite State Challenge	School Senate
Interact	Ski Club
Literary Arts Magazine	Spanish Club
Martial Arts Club	Yearbook

#### **Establishing a New Group**

□ Math Team

In keeping with the district's policy of individualization according to student needs and abilities, the activity program at ORHS seeks to accommodate the interests and talents of a large variety of students. New activities are introduced when student interest warrants or when faculty members recommend changes. Students who wish to form an organization may request permission to do so, following the procedures described below:

- 1. A faculty member must be willing to serve as advisor and accept responsibility for the club.
- 2. Public announcements must be made informing students of the organization and its formation.
- 3. No student interested in joining may be denied this right.
- 4. Students wishing to establish a new group must draw up a proposal indicating the purpose, aims, objectives, organization and functions of the proposed group. The Senate must approve this proposal as must the administration.
- 5. Periodic meetings are to be held with the advisor in attendance and announced at least two days in advance to the student body.

#### **Dances**

- -All school rules (including the Dress Code) apply to all school sponsored events, on or off campus.
- -Students who wish to bring a guest who does not attend ORHS must turn in a **guest registration form** to the main office.
- -No outside beverage container of any kind is permitted at dances.
- -Student must arrive at a dance no later than 8:30pm. Late arrivals will not be admitted.
- -Once students leave a dance they will not be admitted back in.
- -Purses, bags, backpacks and jackets may be searched at the door at the discretion of the administration.

### Eligibility Requirements and the Rules Governing Participation in Interscholastic Athletics and Extra Curricular Activities

The rules governing the participation in interscholastic athletics are outlined in the *ORHS Athletic Handbook*. Copies of the handbook are available in the Main Office, Athletic Director's office and on-line. **Parents should note that, according to NHIAA rules which the school cannot supersede, summer school does not count toward improving a student's record with respect to establishing eligibility. Participation in extra curricular activities of any nature at ORHS requires a student to be in good academic and civic standing.** 

#### **Fundraising**

Oyster River School Board policy strictly limits fundraising activities. The principal must approve all fundraising requests before any fundraising plans are made.

#### STUDENT HEALTH AND NUTRITION SERVICES

#### **School Health Services**

School Health Services are provided by a full-time registered nurse licensed in the State of NH and practices under the standards of care set up by the State of NH, Board of Nursing. The school nurse is available for medical emergencies, health consultations, and other health-related services. A school pediatrician is available for additional medical consultation for student health problems. Referral to community health services and dental care providers as well as information on the free and reduced lunch program is available from the school nurse.

Except for emergencies, students should visit the nurse's office before school, between classes, lunch, and study hall. If it is necessary to visit the nurse's office during class periods, students are to report to their teacher for a pass to the nurse's office. Students will return to class with a pass signed by the nurse indicating time.

All injuries occurring on school grounds must be reported to a classroom teacher in charge or the nurse. An accident report needs to be completed by the nurse in collaboration with the teacher and student. Students that are ill or injured are to be dismissed by the school nurse after receiving authorization from the parent/guardian. Transportation is arranged by the parent/guardian. Emergency services will be used as needed.

A Student Emergency Authorization Form for each student must be completed by a parent/guardian the first week of school and kept on file in the nurse's office. This form authorizes medical care in the event of an emergency, provides parent contact information, permission to administer OTC medications listed, and updates medical problems as well as allergies and recent immunizations. State law requires that all students be properly immunized and provide an immunization record to be kept on file in the nurse's office. Annual immunization updates are provided by the parent/guardian on the Student Authorization Form or a physician's record. If a student's immunization record is found to be non-compliant then the school nurse will inform the student's parent/guardian which immunization is missing and conditionally enroll the student until the immunization is administered by his or her physician.

Students are not allowed to possess medications of any kind at school and are prohibited from sharing medications. All medications are to be kept in the nurse's office. With written permission, the school nurse is able to dispense non-prescription or OTC (over the counter) medications. The OTC medication must be in its original container, labeled with the student's name and written parent permission including the reason for the medication. Prescription medication must be in its original pharmacy container and must identify the student, medication, dosage, and time of administration, duration date, and physician's name. Asthma inhalers, insulin for insulin pumps, single dose emergency medications such as epinephrine auto-injectors may be carried by a student if the student's physician provides a written order stating a medication may be kept with the student in the event of a medical emergency. This is accordance with RSA Title XV Education Chapter 200 Health and Sanitation, section 200; 42 and 46.

(Revised; 6/14/05 D. Richards, RN, MSN)

#### **School Nutrition Information**

The district participates in the National School Lunch Program. Breakfast and lunch are available to eligible students at free or reduced rates. Other students and adults are able to purchase meals and snacks. The school food service program is self-supporting, meaning that funds collected cover all costs. Neither the district nor the taxpayers support the program; the customers do. Therefore, we serve nutritious meals at low cost, and sell other items a la carte. Regardless of federal budget cuts, we wish to continue to serve the school population. Applications for free and reduced meals may be completed any time during the school year.

#### STUDENT TRANSPORTATION

#### Student Automobile Use and Parking

Driving and parking at school is a privilege granted to students which may be revoked if a student violates traffic laws or school rules (see Board Policy JHFD). Parking is a serious problem at Oyster River High School. We do not have enough parking spaces to meet the demands of our student body. We urge all students to use the buses provided by the district, walk to school, or carpool with family and friends.

1. Parking is available to all seniors. Any open spaces after all interested seniors have a parking space will go into a lottery for juniors. Sophomore students are not allowed to park at school.

- 2. Parking permits may be obtained for \$50.00 after completion of an application form available in the main office. Persons who falsify information to obtain a permit or display an altered, unauthorized, or counterfeit parking permit will be subject to towing at owner's expense and revocation of their campus parking privileges. (See District Policy)
- 3. Each applicant for a parking sticker must have in their possession:
  - -An application form with student and parent/guardian signature.
  - -A Valid Driver's license
  - -A Valid Motor Vehicle Registration for the car in which they are registering.

(Note: Student's who will be driving more than one vehicle must register each one.)

- 4. All vehicles must display a valid parking permit on the lower driver's side corner of the front windshield. Stickers must be adhered to windshield.
- 5. O.R.H.S. will not be held liable for any theft of property, vandalism, or damage incurred to any vehicle or its contents while parked on or being removed from school property.
- 6. Students must park in designated student parking areas only. Any student vehicle found parked in a staff parking space will be towed.
- 7. After a student has arrived at school he/she may not return to their vehicle without permission from an administrator.
- 8. Oyster River High School parking privileges and/or permits may be revoked or suspended by the administration. Reasons for suspension may include but are not limited to:

a. Chronic or habitual violations of parking regulations.

- b. Possession or use of a stolen or lost permit, or altering of a parking permit.
- c. Chronic or habitual tardiness to school.
- d. Reckless driving.
- e. Vandalizing other vehicles in lots.

f. Loss of Academic Eligibility.

9. Report any lost or stolen parking permits to the administration. A replacement for a lost permit will be issued at a cost of \$25.00.

Temporary parking permits may be obtained from administration for extenuating circumstances.

11. A Winter Parking Ban is in place from November 1st through March 31st during the hours of 12 midnight to 6 A.M. Parking for all motor vehicles unless otherwise specified is prohibited in all parking lots and on Coe Drive. Vehicles parked in prohibited areas during snow removal may be towed at the owner's expense.

Vehicles found in violation of the provisions of these regulations may be towed from the campus at the "registered owner's" risk and expense. The "registered owner" of the vehicle will be liable for the cost of such removal and storage. Damage to towed vehicles will be the responsibility of the vehicle owner.

#### **BUS RIDER REGULATIONS**

The right to ride a school bus is directly related to a pupil's behavior, attitude and practice of transportation rules and regulations. The driver is in complete charge and must be obeyed.

#### **BUS STOPS**

- 1. All students are expected to be at their assigned stop five (5) minutes before the bus is due. The bus CANNOT wait.
- 2. Students should stand back from the road in an orderly line until the vehicle comes to a complete stop.
- 3. Students should enter and exit buses in an orderly manner, realizing that seating arrangements and procedures for movement are regulated by the driver.
- 4. All students who need to cross the road do so in front of the bus, after it has stopped and the drive has motioned them to cross.

#### ON THE BUS

- 1. All passengers must be seated while the bus is in motion.
- 2. The driver may assign seats if it is deemed advisable.
- 3. Permission must be given by the driver before opening a window. Passengers will not extent arms, legs or heads out of windows or shout at pedestrians.
- 4. Nothing shall be thrown IN the bus, OUT OF the bus or AT the bus.
- 5. Pupils shall keep the bus clean and sanitary.
- 6. Students shall not mar or deface the bus. Damage done must be paid for by the offender or his/her parents.
- 7. Students should not talk to the driver except in an emergency.
- 8. No lunch boxes, books or other objects should be placed in the aisle.
- 9. There will be NO smoking, eating or drinking on the bus.
- 10. Normal conversation is allowed; however, loud talking, shouting, and unnecessary confusion may divert the attention of the drive and could results in a serious accident.
- 11. No live animals or bulky objects will be allowed without previous permission by the driver. (No umbrellas or other sharp objects.)
- 12. Students are expected to ride their regularly scheduled route. Any deviation (provided there is space available) must be accompanied by a parental note, OK'd by the school.
- 13. No one, kindergarten through 8th grade, may leave the bus any place other than his/her scheduled stop without a written note from a parent.
- 14. If the driver is unsuccessful in obtaining proper behavior on the part of a student, a referral may be made to the administration and students may be suspended from the bus.
- 15. All district buses may be equipped for the use of electronic surveillance devices (see Policy EBF).

#### Oyster River Cooperative School District Internet Procedure Statement and Data Retention Policy 2014-2015

In order to align electronic resources as closely as possible to the approved district curriculum, district personnel will review and evaluate resources in order to offer "home pages" and menus of web resources. In this manner, staff will provide developmentally appropriate guidance to students as they make use of telecommunications and electronic information resources to conduct research and other studies related to the district curriculum. All students will be informed by staff of their rights and responsibilities as users of the district network prior to gaining access to that network, either as an individual user or as a member of a class or group.

During school, teachers will supervise students while accessing appropriate materials. Outside of school, families bear responsibility to guide their children as they access the Internet just as parents do with other information sources such as television, telephones, movies, and other potentially offensive media.

Network administrators in each school may review files and communications to maintain system integrity and insure that users are using the system responsibly. Temporary Internet files and Internet history logs are not saved on any desktop computer or servers in the district.

#### Policy for Acceptable Use of Technology

To ensure equitable access to educational media and technologies, it is expected that all members of the Oyster River High School community will use resources in a responsible, ethical, and legal manner and will show respect and consideration for all. Any right of privacy that the user may otherwise have to material that they have accessed through or stored on district information networks is hereby waived. Students and staff have no rights of privacy with regard to their use of the district's information networks. Access to any technology will be available to users who adhere to the following procedures:

- 1) Each student will receive a copy of this policy at the beginning of each academic year.
- 2) Students will be responsible in using technological resources as they would any resources in the school. Products and communications made using technology will comply with general school rules that apply in classrooms, hallways, and on field trips. Students will comply with behavioral expectations posted in the computer lab, library, and classrooms.
- 3) All resources, including, but not limited to, computer software, audio and video tapes, CD-ROMs, online services and resources, multimedia, graphic images, print, or any media which is used or produced on district equipment must adhere to applicable copyright law plagiarism rules and licensing agreements. ORHS rules on plagiarism apply to electronic media as well as print media. Students should not intentionally infringe upon the intellectual property right of others through plagiarism and or unauthorized use or reproductions of computer software or electronic information.
- 4) A. Computer software, which has been licensed to Oyster River High School, may be copied or moved only by technology staff to prevent any breach of licensing agreement or unlicensed copying. B. Students are not permitted to upload/download files and/or software from home. C. Students will not transfer, utilize, or store material in violation of copyright laws or license agreements.
- 5) Students will respect the privacy of others; they shall not access, copy or use any folder, file or work owned or created by another user. Degrading or disrupting equipment or system performance is prohibited. Students will use only their assigned username to log on to the system.
- 6) In order to maintain the security of our resources, disks used outside the school may be subject to screening prior to use in school.
- 7) Through the Internet, new and exciting interactive technologies (email, newsgroup, chat, etc.) are being made available to students. While these interactive technologies hold great potential for the learning process; they are also potentially dangerous if misused by students. As such, the Oyster River High School will issue student accounts for these interactive technologies only as needed to support established school curriculum, and will do so only with the explicit permission of the student's parent/guardian.
- 8) All district resources are limited. Resources must be treated in a manner that respects and preserves them. Care will be taken to conserve paper; ongoing work will be saved in folders on networks or to a disk. Responsible use of the network requires that users will not store or transfer unnecessarily large files.
- 9) Users are not permitted to employ the network for political, illegal, commercial, or financial gain.

Students who do not adhere to the above will be liable for suspension from school, and/or revocation of privileges, and/or additional or alternative disciplinary action may be taken. If a student damages technological resources, the Oyster River School District will seek reimbursement for repair or replacement of said resources.



2014-15
Oyster River High School
Student- Athlete Handbook

#### Oyster River High School

#### ATHLETIC HANDBOOK

## INDEX

PAGE #1	Index
PAGE #2	Goals of Athletic Program
	Eligibility Rules
	<ul><li>age of contestants</li></ul>
	<ul> <li>scholastic standing</li> </ul>
PAGE #3	Eligibility Rules cont.,
	<ul> <li>semester rule</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>use of ineligible contestants</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>participating under an assumed name</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>out of school competition</li> </ul>
PAGE #4	Permission to Participate Form
	Physician's Statement & Clearance
	Out of Season Competition
PAGE #5	Rules & Regulations
	Training Rules
	<ul><li>tobacco</li></ul>
PAGE #6	Rules & Regulations, cont.
	<ul> <li>substance Abuse</li> </ul>
PAGE #7	Sportsmanship
	<ul> <li>media Relations</li> </ul>
	<ul><li>taunting</li></ul>
PAGE #8	Taunting, cont.
	Vandalism/Theft
	Attendance Rules
	Practice Attendance
	Hazing
PAGE #9	Hazing, cont.
	Team Captains
	Sexual Harassment
	Dress Codes
	NHIAA Due Process
	Team Uniforms and Equipment
PAGE #10	Team Uniforms and Equipment, cont.
	Transportation
	Awards, Letter Requirements, Pins, Certificates
PAGE #11	Finishing a Season
	Awards Given

**Teams Offered Each Season** 

#### OYSTER RIVER HIGH SCHOOL ATHLETIC DEPARTMENT Athletic Handbook 2014-15

#### **GOALS**

The goals of interscholastic athletics at Oyster River High School include:

- 1. Encourage all participants to develop respect for self and others, leadership skills, self-discipline, and positive sportsmanship.
- 2. Develop physical skills, mental skills, physical conditioning and the ability to work cooperatively with others in a team setting.
- 3. Assist the faculty and administration in implementing the Oyster River High School Vision Statement. Coaches, like teachers, are educators and responsible for implementing all aspects of the Vision Statement and implementing and adhering to school regulations.
- 4. Offer well-planned instruction prior to participation in an interscholastic sport for students who desire to play the game, are physically able, and who have the ability to compete fairly.

#### **ELIGIBILITY RULES**

Eligibility regulations of the New Hampshire Interscholastic Athletic Association apply to each category of interscholastic participation at the varsity and sub-varsity levels.

For eligibility purposes the sports season begins on the date that school officials call first practice for that sport. The sports season ends on the final date that the school will be represented in inter-school, NHIAA, or New England Association events in that sport.

#### **Age of Contestants**

A student who has reached the age of 19 before September 1 may not represent the school in any interscholastic athletic contest during that school year.

#### **Scholastic Standing**

A student must pass four units of work during the school's previous ranking period to represent the school in interscholastic athletics.

For fall athletics the previous ranking period is the fourth quarter of the previous school year. First year freshmen are immediately eligible in their first quarter, regardless of grades in their eighth grade year. Middle school students are not eligible by ORCSD Board policy. Failing grades cannot be made up during summer school for eligibility purposes. All students must be enrolled in at least four units of work to be eligible for participation.

A student must attain a minimum grade point average of 1.0 (D average) with no more than one F or Incomplete as well as pass four units of work (credit classes), during the previous marking period. A course being taken for grade improvement (already passed), or audit, does not count toward the four units of work. Reinstatement at mid-quarter (after 22<sup>nd</sup> day of the quarter) needs to be appealed to the Athletic Director. To be reinstated students must be passing all 5 classes with a minimum of a 2.0 average. Students can only appeal for reinstatement once per school year.

An incomplete is not considered a passing grade, and will not be counted as such until a passing grade has been recorded by the teacher with the registrar.

#### **Academic Intervention Program**

Determination of a student be placed on AIP will be determined by preceding quarter grades or overall cumulative GPA. Students will still be allowed to tryout and make sport teams. Placement on a JV/V team will have no impact on whether a student is place on AIP or not. Student can voluntarily be placed on AIP

A student with a cumulative GPA below a 2.0 or below a 2.0 for preceding quarter will be placed on AIP. Athletic director will monitor the grading through power school and will take consideration in minimal assignments graded. Students will stay in AIP throughout that entire quarter or sport season.

The whole purpose of this program is not to have students face suspension but rather prevent poor test scores and missing assignments ultimately bolstering the student's academic success.

#### **Semester Rule**

A student is eligible for competition, whether he/she competes in interscholastic athletics or not, for no more than eight consecutive semesters beyond the eighth grade. A student who transfers from another school may not gain any additional semesters.

#### **Using Ineligible Contestants**

Schools using ineligible contestants shall forfeit all games and contests in which the ineligible student participates. An ineligible athlete may not appear on the bench/deck/dugout or in the vicinity immediately before, during, or after any athletic event for that team. Ineligible athletes may not serve as managers or participate in practices while being ineligible.

#### **Assumed Name**

Participating under an assumed name in any athletic contest shall make the student athlete ineligible for a period of 365 days from the date of the infraction.

#### **Non -School Competition**

A. A member of a school team is a student athlete who is regularly present for, and actively participates in, all team practices and competitions. Bona Fide members of a school team are prevented from missing a high school practice or competition to compete with an "out-of-school team."

Whenever a conflict arises between the high school team practice/competition and an out-of-school practice/competition on the same day, the high school team practice/competition must be honored by the student athlete. Priority must be given at all times to the high school team, its practices, and its contests.

Penalties: Any student athlete who violates this rule for the first time shall be declared ineligible for the next 4 consecutive interscholastic events or 3 weeks of a season in which the student athlete is a participant, whichever is greater. This penalty is effective from the date of his or her last participation in a high school sport.

Any student athlete who violates this rule a second time or subsequent time shall be declared ineligible for participation in any high school sport for the balance of the school year.

B. International Competition:

Students and/or teams desiring this kind of competition must have the approval of the NHIAA. No requests for approval will be considered unless received in writing and signed by the Principal six (6) weeks prior to the date of participation. Requests are to be submitted to the NHIAA Executive Director for action.

C. Member Schools' Students Attending Foreign Country Schools:

Member school student athletes attending high schools in a foreign country will be under all the Eligibility By-Laws as stated in the NHIAA Handbook.

#### **Athlete's Information**

Participation in practices or games can only begin once all necessary paperwork is turned in to the athletic department including a update athletic physical, emergency medical form, and medical history form.

Athletes are required to have health or accident insurance coverage through their family's own insurance plan. If necessary, please contact the school nurse for more information regarding health insurance options. The school must be notified of changes in insurance status. The Oyster River School District is not liable for personal medical charges due to accidents or injuries incurred during participation in interscholastic athletic events, practices or tryouts.

#### Physician's Statement

Students must have a physician's statement on file at school certifying that the student has passed a physical examination prior to participating in interscholastic competition. An athlete will be required Physician's statement, cont.

to have a physical before trying out as a freshmen or the first time they participate once in high school. A second physical will be required prior to the start of junior year or at any point there after if participating. This will require an athlete to have two physicals while in high school though yearly physicals are encouraged.

Prior to the beginning of each season, athletes shall complete an emergency (blue) card which also serves as a medical update. Any student-athlete significantly ill or injured, or experiencing a significant weight change should be re-examined and cleared by a physician in order to be eligible.

When an athlete has been taken out of action after an injury or illness by the recommendation of a doctor or trainer, he/she must present to the Athletic Director a note clearing him/her to resume participation. An original note saying that the athlete should remain out of participation for a specific amount of time is acceptable.

#### **Concussion Protocol for Oyster River Cooperative School District:**

For in depth information please check out the following website: <a href="http://www.centerforathletes.com/concussions.shtml">http://www.centerforathletes.com/concussions.shtml</a>

- Any student athlete coming off a concussion must have written consent to return by the following:
- 1. Physician
- 2. Parent or guardian

#### **Out-of-Season Competition**

During the school year a coach may not have any contact with his/her team or potential (above grade 6) team members for the purposes of planning, preparing or playing at any time outside the season limits, except as noted below. The school year ends for purposes of this regulation when all school teams are no longer involved in regular season or NHIAA post-season competition (i.e. summer).

The coach, or other representative of the school, shall not require an athlete to participate in a sport, or training program for that sport, outside of the NHIAA's defined sport season.

A coach is limited to one pre-season meeting with candidates for his/her team to discuss tryout dates and procedures and may call one post-season meeting to collect equipment and elect/announce captains. There are no limits on fundraising meetings.

A high school coach who is employed by a park or recreational commission or organization, or who acts in a volunteer capacity for any such group, to teach his/her sport, may do so only if the following conditions exist:

- 1. No school funds are used (excludes facilities and equipment).
- 2. The program is open to all youth of the area.
- 3. Special emphasis must be made by Principals and Athletic Directors to ensure that coaches do not require an athlete to participate in any activity. The option of participation must be up to the athlete and parent/guardian.

Captain's practices (practices led by one or more students without adult supervision) are not permitted under any circumstances whether during the school year or summer.

Coaches may coach in all-star competitions (e.g. AAU) and are exempt from this By-law only if no more than 25% of the group comes from his/her school team or potential candidates of that school.

#### **RULES AND REGULATIONS**

All interscholastic athletic team members are required to abide by the rules outlined in this handbook as well as any sport specific rules and the particular expectations of their coach. Violations of any of these rules will result in disciplinary action by the coach, Athletic Director or Principal. Not every situation can be covered by a "rule". Athletics is a privilege earned by exhibiting appropriate behavior, demonstrating a positive attitude, and making good decisions. Athletes who do not meet these standards and/or do not represent Oyster River High School according to our expectations will be disciplined.

#### TRAINING RULES

I. Tobacco - Medical experts have concluded that the use of tobacco products in any form is injurious to health and will have a detrimental effect on athletic performance. Athletes are forbidden From using, or possessing, any tobacco products at any time while a member of any athletic team. This "at any time rule" begins at the first tryout for a sport and extends through the entire final day of participation. The consequences of using tobacco are as follows:

**First Offense:** suspended from team for two weeks, including at least two events and the athlete is required to meet with the school's Student Assistance Counselor during each week. **Second Offense:** suspended from the team for the remainder of the season.

II. Substance Abuse - The use of alcohol and illicit drugs by students has serious physical, psychological, and legal implications. Accordingly, students who possess use or transmit alcohol or illegal drugs on school property or at any function under the jurisdiction of the school shall be suspended from school in accordance with school policy. Athletes are, furthermore, forbidden from using, possessing, being in the presence of, or transmitting alcohol or illegal drugs at any time while a member of an athletic team. This "at any time" rule begins at the first tryout and extends through the entire final day of participation. Being in the presence of infers parties or other events where drugs or alcohol are being consumed. It does not infer family occasions or restaurants where alcohol is being consumed legally by non-minors.

Action taken in regard to this regulation will depend on the type of referral. If the abuse is identified by school officials, law enforcement personnel, or members of the community, the referral is termed "disciplinary". When a concerned peer, parent, teacher or coach approaches a school official to get help for a friend, or an athlete asks for help with a drug or alcohol problem, the referral is considered voluntary. Concerned-persons will remain anonymous. Any report of selling or furnishing drugs or alcohol is handled as a disciplinary referral regardless of the source of the report.

#### Disciplinary Referrals

The incident is investigated by the Athletic Director or Assistant Principal for verification by a discussion with the person reporting the incident and others involved, including the accused athlete. If the incident is verified it will be turned over to the administration for discipline. The athlete or his/her parent/guardian may appeal the decision to the Principal.

#### Under the influence of drugs or alcohol or in possession of them at a school event.

Any student who is possessing drugs or alcohol or under the influence at a school district event (dance, prom, sport event, drama performance etc) will be suspended for 20% of their regular season contests in the upcoming season. This consequence will carry over to the following school year should the student-athlete not participate in any other sport for their current year.

Example: If a winter sport athlete attends a fall sporting event and is under the influence or in possession of drugs or alcohol they will be suspended for the first 3 ½ regular season games of their basketball season.

#### First Offense for Drug or Alcohol Use

- 1. Discuss the concerns with the athlete, informing him/her of the consequences.
- 2. Inform the athlete's parent/guardian of the report and the consequences.
- 3. Suspend the athlete from the team for **two weeks**. At the coach's discretion the athlete may practice and attend games, but may not wear the uniform.
- 4. Require the athlete to meet with the Student Assistance Counselor, who may require attendance at a drug or alcohol awareness program. Failure to attend will result in suspension for the season.
- 5. Encourage the athlete's parent/guardian to attend a drug or alcohol education program.
- 6. Reinstatement is at the discretion of the Athletic Director and coach.

#### Second Offense for Drug or Alcohol Use

- 1. Notify the athlete's parent/guardian.
- 2. Suspend the athlete from sports for the season.
- 3. Require an assessment by the Student Assistance Counselor before allowing the athlete to participate in any other athletic activity during a subsequent season.
- 4. Require the athlete to attend a drug or alcohol education program before being allowed to participate in any other athletic activity.
- 5. Encourage the athlete's parent/guardian to attend an appropriate drug or alcohol education program.

#### Third Offense for Drug or Alcohol Use:

1. Loss of athletic eligibility for remainder of high school career.

#### First Offense for Selling or Furnishing Drugs

- 1. Notify the athlete's parent/guardian.
- 2. Notify the Principal and Superintendent.
- 3. Suspend the athlete from athletics for the remainder of the season.
- 4. Require an assessment by the Student Assistance Counselor before allowing the athlete to participate in any subsequent athletic activity.
- 5. Require the athlete to attend a drug or alcohol education program before being allowed to participate in any subsequent athletic activity.
- 6. Encourage the athlete's parent/guardian to attend an appropriate drug or alcohol education program.

#### Voluntary Referrals

When an athlete comes to a coach or other school personnel voluntarily for help, or another concerned person reports a need for help, it is termed a voluntary referral. The distinction is made to highlight the perspective that while drug or alcohol use is not acceptable, it is appropriate to seek out help for the problem. Voluntary referrals are divided into two categories; concerned-person reports and self-reports.

For a concerned-person report the coach or administrator will be supportive of the person making the report, consult with others if necessary to evaluate the sincerity of the report, and evaluate the athlete's behavior. A meeting will then be held with the athlete to establish rapport and discuss concerns over drug or alcohol use.

#### First Report from a Concerned Person

- 1. If the athlete admits the drug or alcohol problem, continue with the steps below. If the athlete denies the existence of a problem, an investigation begins to verify the accuracy of the report, as outlined in the section on "disciplinary referrals". If verified, disciplinary actions will be followed.
- 2. Review policies and procedures with the athlete.
- 3. Refer the athlete to appropriate school or community resources.
- 4. Follow up the referral by another meeting with the Student Assistance Counselor to assess whether the resources were effective or useful.
- 5. Notify the athlete's parent/guardian.

#### Second Report from a Concerned Person

1. If drug or alcohol use is verified follow the procedures for first offense under a disciplinary referral.

#### First Self-Report

- 1. Talk with the athlete.
- 2. Refer the athlete to the Student Assistance Counselor for assessment and assistance.
- 3. Follow up to determine if the athlete is taking advantage of recommended programs.
- 4. Encourage the athlete's parent/guardian to attend a drug or alcohol education program.
- 5. Follow up to determine whether the resources were effective.

#### Second Self-Report

1. Talk with the athlete again about his/her drug or alcohol use.2. Carry out the procedures for the first offense of a disciplinary referral.

#### **SPORTSMANSHIP**

Oyster River High School coaches, athletes and fans are expected to treat all others with respect and courtesy. There will be no tolerance for disrespectfulness or unsportsmanlike behavior directed towards opposing coaches, players, fans or game officials involved in interscholastic competition with Oyster River High School.

A. Any player who is disqualified from a game at any level for exhibiting unsportsmanlike conduct shall not participate in the next interscholastic athletic contest in that sport, regular season or tournament. Disqualified coaches will be suspended for the next two interscholastic contests. Suspension means missing the next contest at the level in which they were disqualified. They may not play or coach at another level until the suspension has been served at the level it was assigned. During a suspension the player or coach may not attend the game/event in which the suspension is imposed.

- **B**. If any player or coach receives a second game disqualification during the season, that individual will be suspended from the sport, at all levels, for the remainder of the season.
- C. If the game disqualification is in the final contest of the season (including tournament play) the penalty will be carried over in that sport and invoked at the first regular season game of the following year. If a disqualification is administered to a graduating senior the suspension will be administered in the next sport season in which he/she participates. If the athlete or coach does not participate in another season the NHIAA expects the school to take other appropriate measures.
- **D**. A player who leaves the bench area during an interscholastic athletic event where an altercation is taking place in the playing area, shall receive a one-game disqualification for the next scheduled game.
- E. A player or coach who makes physical contact with an official before, during, or after any interscholastic contest shall be expelled from the game immediately and banned from further participation in all sports for one calendar year (365 days) from the date of the infraction.

#### Media Relations

When communicating with the media, Coaches, players, and other school officials will stress the positive displays of sportsmanship demonstrated by the student athletes, coaches, spectators, and schools involved in the contest. The effort of each team/individual (s) and spirit of competition should be stressed. Additionally coaches and school officials:

- 1) Will not permit anyone under their supervision to criticize athletic contest officials.
- 2) Will cooperate with the media in the interpretation and clarification of rules and other aspects of the athletic contest.
- 3) Will not comment about specific decisions of game officials.

Any coach or player found in non-compliance with this rule will be subject to disciplinary actions based on the level of infraction. Suspension from the next scheduled interscholastic athletic event, including NHIAA tournament contests, will be the minimum punishment A second violation of this rule shall cause disqualification from coaching or playing in that sport for the balance of that season.

#### **Taunting**

Taunting in all sports is a flagrant unsportsmanlike foul which shall result in the ejection of the participant from that day of competition, plus the next day of scheduled competition. **Taunting** is defined as: "Any actions or comments by coaches, players, or other game personnel which are intended to bait, anger, embarrass, ridicule, or demean others, whether or not the deeds or words are vulgar or racist. Included is contact that berates, needles, intimidates, or threatens based on race, gender, ethnic origin or background, and conduct that attacks religious beliefs, size, economic status, speech, family, special needs, or personal matters."

Examples of taunting that would lead to ejection include, but are not limited to "trash talk", physical intimidation outside the spirit of the game, reference to sexual orientation, "in the face" confrontations by one player to another, standing over/straddling a tackled or fallen player. Taunting by a spectator will result in that person being asked to leave the contest.

#### **VANDALISM OR THEFT**

Destroying, damaging, defacing or theft of any private or school property at a practice or contest will result in at least a one week suspension from the team, dependent on the severity of the incident. Vandalism at any time at an ORCSD school, another public or private school, or UNH will result in at least a two game suspension. The person or persons responsible shall not return to the team until full restitution has been arranged.

#### ATTENDANCE RULES

Students must be present in class by 7:44 and attend all classes on a given day to be eligible to participate in practices or games held on that day. Exceptions must be approved by the Assistant Principal, Principal or Athletic Director and may be:

- A. Approved medical or dental appointments.
- B. College visitation (prior approval by administration).
- C. Family emergency.
- D. Other approved school activity.

A student's absence as a result of an approved medical or dental appointment must be confirmed by presenting documentation from the doctor's office.

"In attendance" means being present in assigned classes. There is no rule requiring students to be in attendance on the day before a weekend or holiday game or practice. However, individual coaches may have expectations beyond the district policy that must be adhered to.

Athletes having practice before school (swimming, ice hockey, etc.) are expected to be in school following practice. If the athlete becomes ill and doesn't attend school the attendance clerk must be notified.

Athletes who have been suspended from school cannot participate in any athletic activity, including practice or as a spectator, during the suspension. This applies to in-school or out-of-school

(Attendance cont.)

suspension. A suspension ends at 7:30 AM on the morning of the return to school, unless stated otherwise by the administration.

Students are not excused from detention because of practices or games. If a student has a detention and misses the bus to travel to an away game he/she will not play in that game. If a student skips detention to play or practice they will be suspended from the next game following their school consequence. Coaches will be informed of detentions.

#### PRACTICE ATTENDANCE

Participation in any sport requires that athletes adhere to attendance requirements specified by the coach. Disciplinary measures will be taken by coaches for missed practices. Repeated offenses may result in suspension or removal from the team. Coaches shall keep accurate attendance records.

Athletes reporting late to practice because of meetings with a teacher, counselor, or administrator may be required to bring a note indicating the time that he/she left for practice.

Athletes may not miss practice to attend a practice/competition for another team they are a participant for. See section on Non-School Competition under Eligibility Rules.

#### **HAZING**

Hazing of fellow athletes, or prospective athletes, under the guise of creating team unity, making them "earn their spot", or for any other reason is absolutely improper and forbidden. Students hazing others will be disciplined appropriately. Hazing includes any disrespectful treatment of a player, or group of players, distinguished by grade, or other measure. This includes requiring others to perform deeds/duties that are not required of all other players. Similar or equal duties may be assigned to different groups, but duties should be rotated among all players in a season.

All athletes should receive equal treatment by coaches and teammates. Hazing in any form will not be tolerated and those found guilty will be suspended from their respective teams.

#### **TEAM CAPTAINS**

Captains are chosen by the team coach. The selection of a team captain must be approved by the athletic director before the selection is announced. We expect captains to be good leaders and to demonstrate the type of behavior that is essential to representing Oyster River High School and the community properly. Captains do not need to be outstanding athletes, but must be outstanding citizens.

Being a team captain is an honor and with that honor comes a responsibility for proper behavior. If a captain exercises poor judgment in their personal, academic or athletic behavior the coach or athletic director may remove them from that leadership position. Leadership is not popularity; it is doing the right thing.

#### SEXUAL HARASSMENT

Oyster River High School provides learning and working environment in which all interpersonal relationships are based on respect and dignity, and where sexual harassment is prohibited. Sexual harassment means unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other inappropriate verbal, written or physical contact of a sexual nature. Such behavior can interfere with performance and create an intimidating or offensive environment. Students and employees of Oyster River High School are responsible for conducting themselves in a manner consistent with the spirit and intent of an environment based on respect and dignity.

If you feel that you are being sexually harassed by anyone, you are encouraged to ask the person to stop the bothersome behavior and report the alleged acts immediately to an administrator or counselor. All reports/complaints of alleged sexual harassment will be investigated by the Sexual Harassment Response Team and necessary and appropriate disciplinary action will be taken with any person who is found to have sexually harassed another. Necessary and appropriate action may include detention, suspension, evaluation, counseling, behavior contracting, expulsion or exclusion, and being reported to appropriate agencies.

#### DRESS CODES

All teams are expected to dress in such a way as to be a credit to their team and school, both in school and at games. Reasonable dress codes will be specified by individual coaches. Any clothing other than team issued uniforms or "dress up" attire **must be approved by the coach or AD**. Any team related spirit outfits that are disruptive to the school environment or inappropriate in any way will result in game suspensions for offenders. Clothing with offensive words, symbols, or pictures that are not allowed in School cannot be worn to practices or games. Props are NOT ALLOWED .Uniforms shall not be worn for practices or Physical Education classes.

#### NHIAA DUE PROCESS

All requests for review of New Hampshire Interscholastic Athletic Association decisions must be made by the Principal in writing to the NHIAA Executive Director. The remainder of the Due Process procedure is outlined in the NHIAA Handbook, available in the Principal's or Athletic Director's office.

#### UNIFORMS AND EQUIPMENT

Athletes are responsible for the care and regular laundering of uniforms. Uniforms should be laundered after every contest. Athletes will not be allowed to wear dirty uniforms to begin games. Uniforms are the property of the school system and shall not be worn for personal use.

Uniforms lost or damaged will be paid for by the athlete at the replacement price. Equipment that is lost or unnecessarily damaged will be paid for by the athlete. Athletes misusing uniforms or equipment may forfeit their use and be disciplined by the coach.

Athletes may not wear uniforms or use equipment issued to another athlete without the permission of that athlete and his/her coach. School equipment or uniforms shall not be loaned out to non-school personnel without the prior approval of the Athletic Director.

Adjustments to the general uniform are in many cases against the rules and should not be allowed. All team members should be dressed alike in contests. Athletes must wear protective equipment required by their sport at all times while practicing or playing.

#### **TRANSPORTATION**

All team members and managers shall travel to, and return from, games, meets or matches on the team bus whenever one is provided. For the purpose of team unity and cohesiveness players should all use the school transportation. Exceptions must be pre-approved by the Athletic Director on a written request from the parent/guardian detailing the reasons. Athletes are not allowed to return with parents other than their own without the same prior approval.

Buses should not be delayed to wait for unprepared or tardy players. When students are dismissed early they may not leave school grounds after dismissal except on the bus. Bus times are carefully planned and starting times should not be delayed or altered, and teams or officials delayed due to the poor planning of individual players.

An athlete missing the bus shall not be allowed to play in the contest without administrative approval. Repeated occurrences may result in dismissal from the team.

All students should be picked up within 30 minutes of the end of any practices or games, or within 30 minutes of the team's arrival following away games.

#### **AWARDS**

#### Certificates

All participants who complete the season on a team, at any level, as a player or manager will receive a certificate.

#### **Letters and Pins**

Athletes on varsity teams, who complete the season and meet playing time or performance requirements for a letter, will receive a varsity letter and pin for their first letter only. After the first letter is awarded they will then receive a pin. Managers and captains will also receive a special pin. Adjustments to the playing time requirements due to an injury or special circumstance will be considered by the coach and discussed with the athletic director.

#### Suggested Requirements for a Letter

**Baseball and Softball** - play in as many innings as there are games. In a 16 game season a player must play at least 16 full innings.

Basketball, Ice Hockey, Soccer, Field Hockey, Lacrosse - play in an average of <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> per game.

Golf, Gymnastics, Tennis, Volleyball - appear in 50% of all matches

Cheerleading -participate in 80% of all games and competitions

Track - score 10 points during the season and/or qualify for the class meet

**Cross Country** - finish in the top 25% in a meet or compete as a varsity member in the Division II meet or the Meet of Champions or as a senior, have contributed in an outstanding way as a leader for the team.

Swimming - score in the state meet

Skiing – score in 50% of all meets

It is the responsibility of the coach to keep records of playing time. The requirements listed above are only suggested to each program. Coaches are expected to communicate requirements at the pre-season meeting. Appeals by the student-athlete can be made to the athletic director for final decision.

#### Finishing the Season

For all awards the athletes must complete the season in good standing. Anyone being dismissed from the team for academic or disciplinary reasons, or anyone dropping off a team will not be eligible for any award for that team.

#### 12 Season Athlete Awards

Student-Athletes who complete 12 seasons of participation over their four years at Oyster River will receive an award through both the NHIAA and the Oyster River Athletic Department.

#### Sportsmanship Awards

Each season a coach can nominate one athlete from each team will be selected for a sportsmanship award, which is awarded through the NHIAA and the Oyster River Athletic Department.

#### **Special Awards**

Special awards given include:

Scholar-Athlete Awards

Brian Swift Memorial Scholarship\*

Matt Sarno Award (Baseball)\*

Nate Hardy Scholarship \*

Distinguished Athlete of The Year Award (Presented by Marines)

\* = awarded at Baccalaureate

#### Athlete of the Year Award

The "Athlete of the Year Award" is the single top award for the outstanding male and female senior athlete at Oyster River High School, judged over their four year career. The recipient is selected by a panel of coaches, teachers and administrators. Candidates must have played in at least six seasons and earned four varsity letters.

#### Scholar Athlete of the Year Award

This award is given to the male and female athletes who demonstrate the best combination of academic and athletic success.

#### SPORTS/TEAMS OFFERED: 2013-14

Fall Boys = Cross Country, Soccer (3), Volleyball (2), Co-ed Golf (2)

Girls = Cross Country, Field Hockey (2), Soccer (3), Volleyball (2) Co-ed Golf (2)

Winter Boys = Basketball (3), Ice Hockey (2), Indoor Track, Swimming & Diving, Alpine Skiing

Girls = Basketball (3), Indoor Track, Swimming & Diving, Alpine Skiing, Ice Hockey

**Spring** Boys = Baseball (3), Lacrosse (2), Outdoor Track, Tennis (2)

Girls = Softball (2), Lacrosse (2), Outdoor Track, Tennis (2)

Golf, Skiing, and Girl's Ice Hockey are either partially or non-funded by the Oyster River Cooperative School District but they are considered varsity sports in all other ways. Ice Hockey rental time for games is funded by the Oyster River School District.

# "BOBCAT PRIDE"

Oyster River High School
Athletic Director Corey Parker
<a href="mailto:cparker@orcsd.org">cparker@orcsd.org</a>
868-2375 x2